

# Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

All Theses and Dissertations

2016-03-01

# 14-3-3 $\zeta$ Regulation of Metastasis Through Mediation of Liprin- $\alpha$ and Liprin- $\beta$

Rachel Hynes Brigham Young University - Provo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Biochemistry Commons</u>, and the <u>Chemistry Commons</u>

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Hynes, Rachel, "14-3-3 $\zeta$  Regulation of Metastasis Through Mediation of Liprin- $\alpha$  and Liprin- $\beta$ " (2016). All Theses and Dissertations. 5725. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/5725

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen\_amatangelo@byu.edu.

14-3-3 $\zeta$  Regulation of Metastasis Through Mediation of Liprin- $\alpha$  and Liprin- $\beta$ 

Rachel Hynes

# A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

# Joshua L. Andersen, Chair Marc Hansen John C. Price

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry

Brigham Young University

March 2016

Copyright © 2016 Rachel Hynes

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

#### 14-3-3 $\zeta$ Regulation of Metastasis Through Mediation of Liprin- $\alpha$ and Liprin- $\beta$

Rachel Hynes Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, BYU Master of Science

Cancer is a set of varied and diverse diseases that share common characteristics, such as active proliferation, increased replicative potential, and tissue invasion or metastasis. One protein, 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , is shown to be upregulated in a number of different cancers and also correlates with poor patient prognosis, recurrence, and mortality. This protein comes from a family of adapter proteins known for their scaffolding ability, pro- and anti-oncogenic capabilities, and affinity for phosphorylated substrates. It has been shown previously to participate in cancer progression, subversion of apoptosis, and to increase chemoresistance. Herein we will discuss the ability of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to promote distant-site metastasis and we propose that it does so through a variety of different mechanisms including the MAPK signaling cascade, HER2/ErbB2 pathway, and by mediation of cell adhesion through regulation of LAR.

Liprin- $\beta$  was identified as a novel 14-3-3 $\zeta$  interactor in a mass spectrometry-based interactomics analysis. 14-3-3 $\zeta$  was found to co-immunoprecipitate with both Liprin- $\alpha$  and Liprin- $\beta$ . We will discuss the identification and mutation of putative 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding sites on both Liprins, the effect these have on the binding of both Liprins to 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and of Liprin- $\alpha$  to LAR, and the possible downstream consequences of these interactions. The results described herein are inconclusive due in part to our inability to obtain a reliable Liprin- $\beta$  pulldown and in part our inability to identify the 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -binding sites on Liprin- $\alpha$  and Liprin- $\beta$ . The concluding chapter contains a discussion of the possible future directions, including the creation of further Liprin mutants as well as fluorescent imaging of LAR localization and focal adhesion turnover.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Andersen, for his help and support throughout the course of my master's degree. His knowledge on breast cancer, metastasis, and 14-3-3 were invaluable to my progression. In addition to my advisor, I would like to thank Dr. Hansen and Dr. Price, the other members of my thesis committee, for their insight and perspectives on my project. I would also like to thank the BYU Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry and the Elsa U. Pardee Foundation for their financial support of my project.

I would like to thank my lab mates, particularly Courtney Banks and Jane Lee, for helping the project progress, providing ideas for research and experiments, and for keeping me sane. Honestly, I couldn't have found a better lab had I checked every other one on BYU campus. My family and friends, particularly Hayden, Anna, and Cecily, also played an important role in boosting my confidence.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my mom, Debbie Hynes, who encouraged me to continue even when the research and thesis preparation seemed daunting. Without her support and belief in me I would not have made it to this point. She always inspired me to continue working, even when it seemed too overwhelming and insurmountable. Thank you for all you do.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	/ii
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background on Cancer and Metastasis	1
1.2 Defining 14-3-3 Proteins	3
1.3 14-3-3 Proteins and Cancer	4
1.4 14-3-3ζ and Metastasis	5
1.4.1 MAP Kinase Signaling Cascade	6
1.4.2 HER2 Pathway	9
1.4.3 LAR-Mediated Adhesion	11
2 LIPRINS	15
2.1 Why Liprins	15
2.1.1 Liprin-α	16
2.1.2 Liprin-β	17
2.1.3 14-3-3ζ Interactomics	18
2.1.4 Workflow	19
2.2 Validation of the Interactomics Data	19
2.2.1 Liprin-α Co-Immunoprecipitation	19
2.2.2 Liprin-β Plasmid Construction	21
2.2.3 Liprin-β Co-Immunoprecipitation	22
2.3 Identification of 14-3-3ζ Binding Motifs	23
2.3.1 Liprin Sequence Alignment	24
2.3.2 Mutation of the Binding Sites	25
2.4 Proposed Effects of the Mutant Liprin Constructs	26
2.5 Liprin-α Mutants	28
2.6 Liprin-β Mutants	30
2.6.1 Liprin-β-CMyc	31
2.6.2 Liprin-β IP with a Gentle Lysis Buffer	32
2.6.3 Liprin-β Transfection in HEK 293 and HeLa Cells	34
2.6.4 Liprin-β Conclusion	34
2.7 Proposed Mechanism of Liprin-Mediated Metastasis	35

	2.7.	1 Effect of 14-3-3ζ on Liprin-α-LAR Binding	. 37
	2.7.	2 Effect of 14-3-3ζ on EphA2 and IRβ Phosphorylation	. 39
	2.8	Thoughts and Conclusions	. 41
3	FUT	TURE DIRECTION	. 43
	3.1	Identify the 14-3-3ζ Binding Sites	. 43
	3.2	Mimicking Phosphorylation	. 44
	3.3	Liprin- $\alpha/\beta$ and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ Complex Formation	. 45
	3.4	Effect on LAR Localization	. 46
	3.5	Focal Adhesion Turnover	. 47
	3.6	Liprin-Mediated Metastasis in Breast Cancer Cells	. 48
Re	eferenc	ces	. 49

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Liprin-β Myc-tag and Restriction Site Addition Primers	22
Table 2: Criteria for 14-3-3ζ Binding Motif Identification	24
Table 3: Primers for Site-Directed Mutagenesis	26

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 HER2 and 1414-3-3 $\zeta$ work together to promote tumor cell metastasis	11
Figure 2 Proposed mechanism of 14-3-3ζ/LAR-induced cell motility	14
Figure 3 Diagram of Liprin structure	15
Figure 4 Workflow of the experimentation and results discussed in this chapter	20
Figure 5 14-3-3 $\zeta$ co-immunoprecipitates with Liprin- $\alpha$	21
Figure 6 14-3-3 $\zeta$ and Liprin- $\beta$ co-transfection shows interaction	23
Figure 7 Locating the putative 14-3-3ζ binding motifs on Liprins	25
Figure 8 Liprin- $\alpha$ SA mutants do not inhibit 14-3-3 $\zeta$ co-immunoprecipitation	29
Figure 9 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , Liprin- $\alpha$ , and LAR do not co-immunoprecipitate with Liprin- $\beta$ WT or SA	
mutants	30
Figure 10 Co-IP of Liprin- $\beta$ not improved by CMyc tag, lysis buffer, or cell type	33
Figure 11 Proposed model of 14-3-3ζ-induced and Liprin-mediated metastasis	36
Figure 12 Liprin-α-ΔSAM2 can bind Liprin-β	38
Figure 13 Phosphorylation of IR $\beta$ in HeLa cells remains unchanged by knock down of Liprin- $\beta$	)
and 14-3-3ζ	40

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

# **1.1** Background on Cancer and Metastasis

Cancer is a set of diseases caused by mutations in the genetic code that vary by type, location, cause, effect on genetic expression, and drug resistance. Despite these differences, all cancers share six common traits: apoptosis resistance, limitless replicative potential, active proliferation, induced angiogenesis, suppression of growth inhibitors, and tissue invasion and metastasis.<sup>1-2</sup> As with the origin of cancer, the cause of each of these traits varies from one type of cancer to another. In fact, even patients diagnosed with the same type of cancer frequently have tumors that are genetically and phenotypically different. With respect to biomedical research, each trait represents a convoluted puzzle with multiple starting points and many different overlapping and crisscrossing paths, all producing similar outcomes. One of the most intriguing cancer trait puzzles is deciphering how these cells develop the ability to migrate from the site of the original tumor to a distant, noncancerous tissue and give rise to a new tumor.

Metastasis, or the process by which cancerous cells spread from the original tumor to a new site, occurs in nearly all late stage cancers and results in poor prognosis.<sup>1, 3-4</sup> The correlation between metastatic cancer and patient mortality originates from the increased likelihood of cancer recurrence upon formation of secondary tumors. This harmful process of recurrence at a secondary site can occur immediately or even years after removal of the original tumor. Metastasis plays a leading role in cancer progression, chemoresistance, patient mortality, and has

been reported to be the cause of 90% of solid tumor deaths.<sup>5</sup> Many labs and clinics across the world are researching how metastasis occurs in the various types of cancer. Despite the amount of research taking place, the causes and mechanisms have not yet been completely elucidated and metastatic tumors still develop.

No single cause of metastasis exists, but it occurs when a tumor cell retracts the focal adhesions (FAs) that anchor it the extracellular matrix (ECM) and adherent junctions (AJs) that link to the surrounding cells and then proceeds to migrate through the bloodstream or lymphatic vessels until it rests at a site distant from the primary tumor.<sup>6</sup> Once the cell settles, it can remain dormant or immediately begin proliferating to form another tumor. This type of invasive cancer is hard to detect and difficult to eradicate because physicians cannot always predict the location of secondary tumor growth and the dormant tumors often remain too small to be identified until after removal of the original tumor. The ability of these cells to evade detection and the detrimental effects of systemic cancer treatment on the patient make evident the necessity of further research to better understand the mechanisms through which tumor cells undergo metastatic transition.

There are many different signaling pathways that lead to metastasis. Nearly every type of cancer employs a distinct pathway to initiate tumor cell metastasis, making the task of finding the cause a daunting undertaking, especially considering that no single cause exists. However, despite their differences many types of cancer share characteristics such as proteins expressed or genes silenced. Similarities such as these aid in the study of tumor cell metastasis because the study of one type of cancer can correlate to other types. One such family of proteins that is differentially expressed in multiple types of cancers is the 14-3-3 family. Recently, their relation to cancer has been increasingly studied. They are known to interact with a myriad of proteins

involved in a variety of different cellular functions, many of which pertain to cancer progression and growth and others to cancer evasion. In this review, we focus on elucidating the role of one member of the family, 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , and how its overexpression leads to cancer metastasis.

# 1.2 Defining 14-3-3 Proteins

Though originally isolated from brain tissue in 1967,<sup>7</sup> the 14-3-3 proteins can be found in a number of organs and tissues throughout all eukaryotic organisms.<sup>8</sup> The name of these proteins comes from the fraction containing the proteins collected after filtration by DEAE column chromatography.<sup>9</sup> The 14-3-3 proteins are a conserved family of acidic proteins made up of seven different isoforms ( $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\zeta$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\sigma$ , and  $\tau$ ) encoded by different genes which can be found in all eukaryotic organisms.<sup>8</sup> Through interactions with a variety of different proteins, 14-3-3 participates in a number of cellular functions, including cell cycle progression, cell survival,<sup>10-11</sup> metabolism,<sup>12</sup> protein trafficking,<sup>13</sup> and signal transduction.<sup>10, 13-22</sup>

14-3-3 family proteins participate in hundreds of different pathways and interactions, despite having no inherent enzymatic activity. Instead they function by first dimerizing then interacting with and modulating the activity of other proteins in a phosphorylation-dependent manner.<sup>23</sup> The phosphorylated interacting partners contain conserved binding motifs, the most common of which is RXXpS/TXP, where pS/T represents the phosphoserine/threonine to which 14-3-3 proteins directly bind.<sup>24</sup> Regulation on a given protein by 14-3-3 can cause scaffold-like activity, sequestration, activation or inhibition, conformational change, or complex formation.

#### **1.3** 14-3-3 Proteins and Cancer

In general, members of the 14-3-3 family are somewhat polarized when it comes to their role in cancer: for example, the sigma isoform generally acts in a tumor suppressor role while many of the other isoforms have pro-oncogenic effects. Some studies show, however, that this division is not as black and white as it first appears and that certain isoforms can play both proand anti-oncogenic roles depending on the expression level and profile.<sup>25-27</sup> The 14-3-3 family of proteins has been shown to play a role in almost every type of cancer (reviewed in reference 23). Each 14-3-3 dimer pair (including homo- and heterodimerizations) has a unique set of binding partners with few overlapping interactors, which results in each set having a distinct impact on cancer.<sup>28-30</sup> Many of these interacting partners participate either directly or indirectly in cancer progression. For example, interaction with BAD, Cdc25, and β-integrins leads to their altered localization; binding to Raf-1, CHK1, WEE1, and serotonin-N-acetyl transferase alters their enzymatic function; finally, binding to proteins such as RAF-BCR and RAF-A20 causes complex formation.<sup>10, 31-38</sup> 14-3-3 proteins also interact with the type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGFIR), a protein that regulates growth and development upon binding of either IGF-I or IGF-II in both normal and cancerous cells.<sup>39</sup> Binding of 14-3-3 to IGFIR induces cancer cell transformation, whereas blocking 14-3-3 binding to IGFIR by mutation causes the cells to lose the ability to form soft agar colonies.<sup>40</sup>

The zeta isoform of the 14-3-3 family has been shown to correlate with multiple types of cancer, including colon,<sup>41</sup> lung,<sup>42-43</sup> stomach,<sup>44</sup> and breast cancer.<sup>45-47</sup> In breast cancer specifically, the overexpression of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  has been linked to poor patient prognosis, patient mortality, increased recurrence, and greater chemoresistance.<sup>48-51</sup> Many studies suggest that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  plays a role in transformation, cancer progression, tumor cell survival, invasion, and has

been well characterized as an inhibitor of apoptosis. It is known to aid in cell survival by interacting with a network of proteins involved in apoptosis, including BAD, Bax, caspase-2, and Raf kinases.<sup>52</sup> Subversion of apoptosis allows cancerous cells to grow under conditions that would normally cause cell death, such as limited nutrient and oxygen supply or high levels of genetic mutations.

In addition to subversion of apoptosis, 14-3-3 $\zeta$  also participates in various stages of tumor growth. This can be seen by observing the effects of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  in different cancers and how they related to the hallmarks of cancer: replicative potential, apoptosis resistance, proliferation, angiogenesis, suppressed growth inhibitors, and invasiveness. In human esophageal cancer, 14-3- $3\zeta$  expression is associated with tumorigenesis.<sup>53</sup> In breast cancer, 14-3- $3\zeta$  overexpression inhibited apoptosis.<sup>54</sup> In prostate cancer it activates proliferation through association with the androgen receptor in the nucleus.<sup>55</sup> In multiple myeloma, siRNA knockdown of 14-3- $3\zeta$  caused a downregulation of various functions related to angiogenesis.<sup>56</sup> In transformed oncogenic mouse mammary epithelial cells, 14-3- $3\zeta$  was shown to have an opposing role to 14-3- $3\sigma$  and stimulated growth by negatively modulating TGF- $\beta$ 1 growth inhibition.<sup>57</sup> In intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (ICC) it enhanced the tumor cell invasiveness as well as increasing their proliferative capacity.<sup>58</sup> Considering these data, 14-3- $3\zeta$  likely acts as a coordinator for the various stages and pathways involved in cancer development and progression.

#### 1.4 14-3-3ζ and Metastasis

The ability of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to induce apoptosis has been researched extensively, while its role in cell adhesion and motility is not as well understood. 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , as with all the 14-3-3 family proteins, is generally known as a scaffolding protein, though it can also act to sequester,

activate/inactivate, or induce conformational changes as previously mentioned. Many of the signaling pathways that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  participates in and proteins it has been shown to interact with take part in cancer, specifically in cancer metastasis. It has been shown to increase distant site metastasis, cancer recurrence, and increased invasion in multiple types of cancer, including breast, lung, esophageal, ICC, and colon. Here we will discuss a few of the different metastasis-promoting pathways and proteins that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  interacts with, including MAP kinase cascade signaling, HER2/ErbB2 pathway, and LAR-mediated cell adhesion.

# 1.4.1 MAP Kinase Signaling Cascade

In order for a tumor cell to initiate metastasis it must undergo a series of events leading to its retraction from the surrounding tissue and survival in the vasculature until it reaches its target tissue. This involves the integration of many different signaling pathways, one of which is the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade. MAPK signaling is a complex network of interconnected pathways that can lead to initiation of many of the steps leading to metastasis. The following paragraphs will discuss the role of MAPK in the epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT), apoptosis evasion, survival in the vasculature, and initiation of the dormancy stage.

First, the cells must undergo EMT in order to allow them to migrate and invade other tissues.<sup>59</sup> EMT can be induced through various methods, many of which pertain to MAPK and its associated proteins. One such method involves a coordinated effort of transcription factors such as Twist1, Snail, and Slug, that repress e-cadherins, allowing the cell to release its FAs and AJs in order to move away from the surrounding tissue.<sup>59</sup> EMT has been shown to be initiated by direct regulation of these transcription factors or indirectly through reactive oxygen species

(ROS). MAPK-associated proteins have been shown to respond to ROS accumulation in the context of tumor invasiveness and correlate with the expression of both Twist1 and Snail.<sup>60-62</sup> A second method of coordinating the transcription factors is through TGF- $\beta$ 4 which has been shown to be induced by MAPK signaling and to lead to EMT.<sup>63</sup> Lastly, EMT can be induced by hypoxia, a condition common to tumor cells that grow to a size exceeding the limit of nutrient and oxygen delivery. Furthermore, one of the key transcription factors induced by hypoxia, HIF-1 $\alpha$ , is stabilized by the p38 $\alpha$  MAPK, which is sufficient to directly activate Snail and Twist.<sup>64</sup>

Second, the cells that release from their surrounding tissue must circumvent apoptosis while they undergo circulation until they reach the target tissue. In order to prevent the spread of tumors, cells have developed a mechanism to induce apoptosis in cells that release their FAs. This process of anoikis, or anchorage-dependent apoptosis, must be overcome by tumors in order for them to survive once they release from the primary tumor. Interestingly, the suppression of components of the MAPK cascade has been linked to tumor suppression by inducing anoikis and inhibition of these MAPK proteins induces anoikis resistance.<sup>65-67</sup> This seemingly opposing role of MAPK signaling in cancer progression illustrates the need for tight regulation of the MAPK cascade, possibly through a scaffolding protein such as  $14-3-3\zeta$ . 14-3-3 could potentially cause a tumor cell to release from the primary tumor by activating the MAPK signaling pathway, but then through sequential inactivation, prevent the pathway from inducing apoptosis.

Third, the cancer cells that successfully release from the tumor and survive the transition to mesenchymal cells must enter the blood stream or lymphatic system by degrading the extracellular matrix (ECM). MAPK signaling cascade phosphorylates heat-shock protein 27 to activate its anti-apoptotic and pro-metastatic role in cancer.<sup>68</sup> In order to become invasive cells must become motile, a process that involves the coordination of FA removal and placement as

well as actin polymerization and depolymerization. MAP kinase activity inactivates the actin depolymerizing factor cofilin by phosphorylation, allowing the actin filaments to polymerize and carry out cell motility. <sup>68</sup> Knockdown of MAPK proteins by dominant-negative mutants and siRNA inhibition caused a decrease in cell invasion.<sup>69-73</sup> MAPK modulates the activity of urokinase-type plasminogen activator, uPA, which plays a critical role in the invasion, intravasation, and metastasis.<sup>74-75</sup>

Lastly, once the cells reach the new tissue and before they begin infiltrating and forming a new tumor, the cells generally enter a dormancy stage called metastatic latency.<sup>76</sup> This stage of latency occurs after a cell reaches the target organ and before it receives the proper signals to begin rapid proliferation. Generally, cells accomplish this by arresting the cell cycle at the G0/G1 stage or by equalizing the rate of proliferation and death.<sup>77</sup> Extracellular signals cause the inactivation of ERK1/2 and activation of p38MAPKs resulting in dormancy stage, while reversal of these two opposing states initiates rapid tumor growth of a distant, metastatic tumor.<sup>76</sup> As shown above, the MAPK cascade participates in many of the steps necessary for a cell to become metastatic. Some of its key regulators, such as the proteins Ras, Raf and mitogenactivated protein kinase kinase (MEK), belong to the family of 14-3-3ζ-interacting proteins.<sup>78-80</sup> The presence of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  has been shown to be sufficient and necessary for activation of the MAPK/ERK (extracellular signal-regulated kinase) pathway and overexpression of a dominant/negative 14-3-3ζ mutant resulted in p38/MAPK activation and apoptosis induction.<sup>60,</sup>  $^{79, 81}$  These results indicate that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  acts as a regulator between the MAPK-associated p38 and ERK pathways in order to promote cell survival and metastasis. A second method of 14-3-3 activation of the MAPK/ERK cascade is by binding and activating c-Raf.<sup>82</sup> Activation of this part of the MAPK signal cascade by 14-3-3 $\zeta$  could lead to MAPK-induced metastasis.<sup>83</sup>

Thymosin  $\beta$ 4, another known regulator of the MAPK cascade, initiates its phosphorylation-dependent activation.<sup>84</sup> While no direct correlation between 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and thymosin  $\beta$ 4 has been experimentally proven, both proteins have been shown to correlate with the metastatic potential of tumor cells via MAPK signalling.<sup>85</sup> These two proteins, Thymosin  $\beta$ 4 and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , likely work in conjunction to regulate this pathway

## 1.4.2 HER2 Pathway

Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), also known as receptor tyrosineprotein kinase ErbB2, belongs to the human epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) family along with EGFR, ErbB3, and ErbB4. The overexpression of these proteins has been shown to play a role in malignant cancer progression and each are targets for many anticancer therapies.<sup>86-87</sup> Interestingly, HER2 has no known ligand but is still crucial to downstream RTK signaling by forming heterodimers with its sister proteins.<sup>88</sup> Each of these receptors can be activated by ligand-binding or in a ligand-independent manner in response to phosphorylation induced by ionizing radiation (IR).<sup>89-92</sup> Oxidative stressors, such as IR exposure, lead to tumorigenicity and increased invasion of tumor cells into the surrounding tissue.<sup>93-95</sup> The HER2 protein is overexpressed in 20% of breast cancers and, like 14-3-3ζ, correlates with poor patient prognosis, and increased levels of metastatic cancer.<sup>96-99</sup> Similarly to HER2, 14-3-3ζ has been found to be expressed in early stage tumors, to correlate to poor patient prognosis, and to have IR-mediated overexpression. One study showed that both HER2 and 14-3-3ζ signaling increase upon IR activation to promote breast cancer metastasis.<sup>100</sup>

As with most cancers, breast cancer progresses through various stages, including invasive breast cancer (IBC) and its noninvasive precursor ductal carcinomas in situ (DCIS). While highly

expressed in DCIS cells, the protein HER2 is found in only approximately 25% of IBC cases.<sup>87,</sup> <sup>101-103</sup> These statistics indicate that HER2 expression alone is insufficient to promote the transition from DCIS to the invasive, more lethal form of breast cancer. The question remains as to what cofactor acts in conjunction with HER2 to initiate the transition to metastatic cancer. Though many different candidate proteins or other metastasis-promoting factors could aid in the transition from DCIS to IBC, we propose that this is accomplished through coordinated signaling with 14-3-3ζ.

The protein 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , as previously discussed, binds to many different proteins that influence the various hallmarks of cancer.<sup>1, 10, 16</sup> Furthermore, 14-3-3 $\zeta$  was found to be overexpressed in many early stage breast cancer tumors, including DCIS.<sup>104</sup> A recent study looked at 14-3-3 $\zeta$  overexpression in conjunction with HER2 in order to determine whether they work in a cooperative fashion. The data showed that the co-overexpression of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and HER2 in *in vitro* breast cancer systems led to increased progression to IBC and higher levels of distant site metastasis in mouse models.<sup>50</sup> Though the exact mechanism of HER2-induced metastasis in cancer cells remains unclear, it has repeatedly been shown to correlate with increased metastasis and poor patient prognosis. While breast cancer patients testing positive for either HER2 or 14-3-3 $\zeta$  showed increased likelihood of metastasis, those overexpressing both proteins have a statistically higher likelihood of developing metastatic recurrence. The close correlation between these two proteins and metastasis suggests that the HER2 and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  pathways do not work in parallel, but work in a convergent manner to promote metastasis (Figure 1).



**Figure 1 HER2 and 1414-3-3** $\zeta$  work together to promote tumor cell metastasis. Previously it has been proposed that HER2 and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  work in either a sequential or parallel pathway. We propose that they work together in separate but convergent pathways to promote metastasis.

# 1.4.3 LAR-Mediated Adhesion

The protein-tyrosine phosphatase family is divided into two groups, or subfamilies, consisting of receptor-like (RPTP) and nonreceptor PTPases, which function by dephosphorylating tyrosyl-phosphorylated proteins.<sup>105-106</sup> Like other RPTPs, leukocyte common antigen related receptor (LAR) possesses a single transmembrane domain and two intracellular phosphatase domains named D1 and D2.<sup>106-107</sup> Unlike most receptors, ligand binding to RPTPs typically causes their inactivation by inducing dimerization which allosterically inhibits the active D1 domain through occlusions by the D1 domain of the opposing subunit.<sup>108-112</sup> The D1 domain is believed to carry out the PTPase activity while the D2 domain typically remains inactive, but plays a key regulatory role in determining substrate specificity.<sup>110, 113-116</sup> Regulation of the D2 domain occurs through the binding of various proteins, such as the scaffolding protein called Liprin- $\alpha$  which is believed to influence LAR's substrate specifity.<sup>117</sup>

A recent 14-3-3<sup>\zeta</sup> interactomics study revealed several novel 14-3-3<sup>\zeta</sup> binding partners including a metastasis-regulating protein called Liprin-β.<sup>118-119</sup> Liprins comprise a gene family that contains six Liprin- $\alpha$  and two Liprin- $\beta$  proteins:  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 2$ ,  $\alpha 3$ ,  $\alpha 4$ ,  $\beta 1$ , and  $\beta 2$ . This highly conserved family of scaffold proteins was originally identified as interacting partners of LAR in 1998.<sup>117</sup> Since that time, many articles have been published about the binding partners and roles of Liprins in cell migration and adhesion, synapse activity and development, and lymphatic vessel development.<sup>120-129</sup> Though little is known about the regulation of Liprins, their general structure has been well characterized. Each Liprin protein contains a C-terminal liprin homology (LH) domain comprised of three sterile alpha motif (SAM) domains and an N-terminal coiledcoil region.<sup>130</sup> Liprin-a proteins heterodimerize and interact with a variety of different synaptic proteins (CAST, GIT1, RIM, and KIF1A) via interaction at the SAM domain.<sup>129, 131-133</sup> Though the mechanism is still not well understood, Liprin- $\beta$  and Liprin- $\alpha$  heterodimerize by binding at the coiled-coil N-termini,<sup>117</sup> an interaction that could lead to the Liprin-dependent activation of LAR by 14-3-3ζ, causing a downstream effect of loss of cell adhesion through indirect interaction with integrins.

Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), the counterpart to RPTPs, act in a manner distinct to that of RPTPs and are activated through ligand-induced dimerization, whereupon each subunit participates in a trans-phosphorylation of tyrosine residues on the opposing receptor.<sup>134</sup> RTKs require a triple phosphorylation in order to remain fully active and often are inactivated through dephosphorylation by either a nonreceptor PTPase or an RPTP. One such RTK substrate of the LAR PTPase is Ephrin type-A receptor 2 (EphA2),<sup>135</sup> also known as epithelial-cell kinase (Eck), which is a member of the largest family of RTKs.<sup>136</sup> Like the other 13 members of the Ephrin family, EphA2 is membrane-bound and activated by ligands called ephrins, specifically ephrin-

A. It is believed that the Eph-ephrin interaction and signaling cascade participate in cell motility by limiting migration through inhibition of integrin-mediated adhesion and spreading, thus obstructing migration.<sup>137-140</sup>

We propose that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  overexpression initiates metastasis by interacting with a Liprin- $\alpha$ /Liprin- $\beta$  heterodimer, which in turn binds to LAR. This interaction recruits LAR to the cell periphery where it can dephosphorylate EphA2, thus inactivating its ability to stabilize integrins and FAs at the cell surface. In turn, this triggers the uptake of FAs into the cell causing a loss of adhesion with the surrounding tissue and ECM, whereupon the cell is free to mobilize and metastasize to a secondary site within the organism (Figure 2).



# Figure 2 Proposed mechanism of 14-3-3ζ/LAR-induced cell motility.

Overexpressed 14-3-3 $\zeta$  interacts with Liprins, causing them to interact with LAR and localize to the cell periphery. Once at the cell edge, LAR dephosphorylates and inactivates EphA2, a RTK known to stabilize integrins and inhibit cell motility. Upon EphA2 inactivation, the FAs are internalized, leaving the cell free to migrate or metastasize.

#### 2 LIPRINS

#### 2.1 Why Liprins

Liprins belong to a family of proteins known as the LAR protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP)-interacting protein family. This family consists of six proteins split into two distinct classes,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . Four Liprin- $\alpha$  and two Liprin- $\beta$  proteins have been identified in mammals:  $\alpha$ 1,  $\alpha$ 2,  $\alpha$ 3,  $\alpha$ 4,  $\beta$ 1, and  $\beta$ 2. Each protein within the family is composed of an N-terminal coiled-coil and a C-terminal liprin homology (LH) domain containing three sterile alpha motif (SAM) regions (Figure 3). The Liprin proteins have been shown to homodimerize with proteins of the same class (i.e.  $\alpha$  to  $\alpha$  or  $\beta$  to  $\beta$ ) at their N-terminal coiled coil region and heterodimerize with Liprins of the opposite class ( $\alpha$  to  $\beta$ ) or interact with other proteins at their C-terminal LH domain.<sup>117, 124</sup> Although substantial progress has been made toward understanding the mechanism of Liprin- $\alpha$  signaling and its participation in cell adhesion, elucidation of the role of Liprin- $\beta$  and understanding how it participates in Liprin- $\alpha$ -mediated mechanisms remains an active, though challenging, area of investigation.

Coiled-Coil

SAM SAM SAM

**Figure 3 Diagram of Liprin structure.** C-terminal coiled-coil domain where Liprins form homodimers. N-terminal Liprin homology (LH) domain of three sterile alpha motifs where Liprins form heterodimers or bind to other proteins.

#### **2.1.1** Liprin-α

Liprin- $\alpha$ , also known as LAR interacting protein alpha (PTPRF interacting protein alpha [PPFIA]), plays an integral role in synaptic vesicle trafficking and synapse development and maintenance.<sup>123, 141</sup> Liprin- $\alpha$  proteins bind a number of neuronal proteins, such as GRIP and GIT1, through which they are suspected to coordinate trafficking of proteins like the AMPA receptor in the active zone of synapses.<sup>127, 131</sup> More recently the Liprin- $\alpha$ -GIT1 interaction has been implicated as a positive regulator of motility by preventing the negative regulation of GIT1 on paxillin, a crucial component of FAs.<sup>142</sup>

A second regulatory role of Liprin- $\alpha$  on cell motility involves its effect on the permanence of integrins at the cell surface. Integrins stabilize the actively proliferating actin lamellipodia of migrating cells by anchoring the cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix.<sup>143</sup> A 2010 study identified Liprin- $\alpha$  as a factor that aids in the stabilization of  $\beta$ 1 integrins by preventing their internalization.<sup>119</sup> Additionally, Liprin- $\alpha$ 1 knockdown was shown to suppress cell spreading and migration, whereas its overexpression promoted cell motility.<sup>126</sup> It was also shown to affect integrin distribution, alter cell morphology, enhance lamellipodia formation, and increase spreading.<sup>118</sup>

Cell motility plays a key role in metastasis, and Liprin- $\alpha$  proteins have also been shown to participate in the motility of cancer cells. The Liprin- $\alpha$  gene was shown to be amplified in about 20% of breast cancers and correlating high protein expression was observed.<sup>144</sup> The researchers further identified Liprin- $\alpha$  as a novel regulator of tumor cell invasiveness and metastasis in breast cancer cells.<sup>144</sup> One way through which Liprin- $\alpha$  proteins affect motility is by interacting with the distal phosphatase domain of LAR and increasing its trafficking to the plasma membrane. Both Liprin- $\alpha$  and LAR have been found to localize to FAs at the cell

periphery and initiate their disassembly and internalization, providing a means through which cells can metastasize.<sup>126</sup>

#### **2.1.2** Liprin-β

Liprin- $\beta$ , also known as LAR interacting protein binding protein  $\beta$  (PTPRF interacting protein binding protein [PPFIBP]), does not directly interact with LAR, but associates with it though interaction with Liprin- $\alpha$ . Other than Liprin- $\alpha$  only one protein interactor has been identified: a metastasis regulating protein named S100A4.<sup>145</sup> As with  $\alpha$ -Liprins, the  $\beta$  subfamily sequence identity is highly conserved across species, suggesting a conserved evolutionary role for both of these proteins. For the most part, the physiological role that Liprin- $\beta$  proteins play in cells has not been well studied,<sup>117, 145</sup> though they were identified as a potential mediator of lymphatic vessel integrity, specifically in intestinal lymphatic endothelial cells.<sup>146</sup>

Of the little that is known about Liprin- $\beta$ , the majority of it shows a strong correlation between this protein and cell motility. It is known to associate directly with Liprin- $\alpha$  and indirectly with LAR, both of which regulate FA and/or AJ stability. Additionally, the study that identified Liprin- $\beta$  as a S100A4 interactor carried out immunofluorescent staining that revealed enhanced Liprin- $\beta$ 1 staining at the cell periphery, predominantly at lamellipodia-like areas of the membrane.<sup>145</sup> Conversely, Liprin- $\beta$ 2 has been identified as a suppressor of motility. Knockdown of ERK2 in invasive breast cancer cells resulted in the indirect upregulation of Liprin- $\beta$ 2 which lead to the inhibition of motility.<sup>147</sup> Together these data suggest that Liprin- $\beta$  is highly dynamic and careful regulation of the different isomers is required for regulation of metastasis. Such intense regulation could be carried out via a scaffolding protein such as 14-3-3 $\zeta$ .

#### 2.1.3 14-3-3ζ Interactomics

Overexpression of the protein 14-3-3 $\zeta$  in breast cancer tumors has been identified as a marker for poor patient prognosis and increased chemoresistance.<sup>23, 43, 51, 148</sup> One method through which 14-3-3 $\zeta$  promotes cancer cell survival and chemoresistance comes from the ability of this protein to aid in the subversion of apoptosis through the regulation and expression of proteins such as Bcl-xL, Mcl-1, and Caveolin-1, and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ .<sup>149</sup> Other known binding partners of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  include Atg9,<sup>150</sup> the Bcl2 family protein Bad, and Raf kinases. Given the chemoresistance-promoting nature of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and its phosphorylation-dependency, an interactomics study can be used as a tool to identify novel phosphorylation-mediated interactions that regulate cancer cell movement and survival.

Considering the cancer-promoting role of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , we can utilize a mass spectrometrybased analysis of the protein-protein interactions to identify possible mechanisms of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ induced metastasis and chemoresistance. Often 14-3-3 $\zeta$  is considered a scaffolding protein because it has no inherent activity. Instead it relies on its interactions with phosphorylated serine/threonine motifs on its binding partners in order to have an effect within the cell. Using this interactomics tool, we can identify novel binding partners in order to determine the possible effects of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  on the cells.

Our recent mass spectrometry (MS)-based 14-3-3 $\zeta$  interactomics work revealed a number of new interacting partners including the metastasis-regulating protein called Liprin- $\beta$ .<sup>118-119</sup> The ability of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to bind to Liprin- $\beta$  is particularly interesting because very little is known about the Liprin family of proteins, in particular Liprin- $\beta$ . One particularly concerning effect of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ on cancerous cells is its ability to aid tumors in developing invasive cells,<sup>50</sup> which increases the risk of cancer recurrence and chemoresistance. While 14-3-3 $\zeta$  is known to increase the

occurrence of metastasis, the exact mechanism by which it does so remains unknown. One possible method of promoting cell motility is through its interaction with Liprins.

#### 2.1.4 Workflow

Many questions arise from the aforementioned information about Liprins and 14-3-3 proteins. Foremost among these questions is how does 14-3-3 $\zeta$  induce tumor cell metastasis? To better understand this, we must discover how 14-3-3 $\zeta$  interacts with Liprins and the mechanism by which this interaction induces motility and metastasis. The data discussed in this chapter will be examined according to the following workflow (Figure 4).

# 2.2 Validation of the Interactomics Data

14-3-3 $\zeta$  interacts with many different proteins, as discussed previously, and can have a variety of functions, the primary one being scaffolding. Considering that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binds with such specificity, the overexpression of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  has been linked to poor patient prognosis, many different proteins in the cell, a conclusive co-immunoprecipitation is difficult to obtain. In order to validate the interactomics data, we overexpressed tagged Liprin constructs in HEK 293 cells and ran an immunoprecipitation/Western Blot analysis to determine whether they pull down 14-3-3 $\zeta$ .

#### **2.2.1** Liprin-α Co-Immunoprecipitation

As described above, the interactomics study revealed that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binds to Liprin- $\beta$ , which is known to interact with Liprin- $\alpha$ . In order to determine whether Liprin- $\alpha$  also interacts



Figure 4 Workflow of the experimentation and results discussed in this chapter. Together with a proteomic analysis showing an interaction between 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprin- $\beta$ , the question "How does 14-3-3 $\zeta$  mediate metastasis?" leads to further research into the exact method of protein binding and the mechanism through which it promotes metastasis.

with 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , we immunoprecipitated overexpressed Liprin- $\alpha$ -FLAG from transfected HEK 293 cell extracts and ran a Western blot analysis and blotted for 14-3-3 $\zeta$  as well as LAR and Liprin- $\beta$ . The results show that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and endogenous Liprin- $\beta$  will co-immunoprecipitate (co-IP) with overexpressed Liprin- $\alpha$  (Figure 5). This does not, however, indicate a direct interaction between 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprin- $\alpha$ , the two could be linked by complex formation with Liprin- $\beta$ .

![](_page_28_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 5 14-3-3ζ co-immunoprecipitates with Liprin-α. HEK 293 cells expressing Liprin-α-FLAG were immunoprecipitated with anti-FLAG agarose beads and the bound proteins visualized through Western blot analysis. Cells treated with Liprin-α-FLAG (lane 4) showed an increase in 14-3-3ζ pulldown when compared to the untreated control (lane 3). As has been shown previously, Liprin-β also immunoprecipitates with tagged Liprin-α.

# 2.2.2 Liprin-β Plasmid Construction

The untagged Liprin- $\beta$  construct was originally in a vector that only expresses in low levels in both prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells. Bacterial transformations and HEK 293 cotransfections with this plasmid showed no expression of Liprin- $\beta$ . In order to use the Liprin- $\beta$ construct we needed to add a tag for immunoprecipitation and clone it into a eukaryotic expression vector. We did this in two steps: first we added an N-terminal Myc tag using the "Myc add" forward and reverse primers (Table 1).

Primer	Sequence
Myc add_F	ttctgaagaagatttgATGAGTGATGCAAGTGAC
Myc add_R	atcaatttctgttccatTTTATTATTTGTCAGGGGC
LipB_RE BamHI_F	attataggatccATGGAACAGAAATTGATTTCTGAAG
LipB_RE EcoRV_R	tacaatgatatcTCAAACGTTTGAGTCTTCATCTG
Myc del_F	ATGAGTGATGCAAGTGACATG
Myc del_R	CATGGACCGAGCTCGTAC
Myc C-term add F	tgaagaagatttgtgaGATATCCAGCACAGTGGC
Myc C-term add R	gaaatcaatttctgttcAACGTTTGAGTCTTCATCTG

Table 1: Liprin-β Myc-Tag and Restriction Site Addition Primers

#### **2.2.3** Liprin-β Co-Immunoprecipitation

Once the tag was added, we amplified the Myc-tagged Liprin- $\beta$  fragment using primers containing BamHI and EcoRV restriction digestion sites in order to facilitate cloning into the pcDNA3.1 vector. After cloning into the expression vector, we also made clones in which we removed the N-terminal Myc tag and another in which added the tag to the C-terminal. This was done to ensure that any inhibition of binding to Liprin- $\alpha$  or 14-3-3 $\zeta$  was not an artefact of blockage by the N-terminal Myc-tag. The cloning results were validated using DNA sequencing analysis. A co-transfection with 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -HA and Liprin- $\beta$ -Myc or untagged Liprin- $\beta$ demonstrated an interaction between both the tagged and untagged Liprin- $\beta$  constructs and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , but no interaction with Liprin- $\alpha$  (Figure 6).

Knowing that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  will precipitate with Liprin- $\alpha$ , the lack of interaction demonstrated in this blot could be an artefact of the endogenous signal being covered up by the strong fluorescence from the overexpressed Liprin- $\beta$  proteins. We know from the proteomic analysis that endogenous Liprin- $\beta$  interacts with 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , however we do not see that interaction here (Lane 8). Lanes 1 and 2 show that endogenous Liprin- $\beta$  is present in the cell lysate, so the lack of interaction seen in Lane 8 is likely caused because 14-3-3 $\zeta$  interacts with so many other proteins

![](_page_30_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 6 14-3-3** $\zeta$  and Liprin- $\beta$  co-transfection shows interaction. Lysate and HA tag immunoprecipitate from cells co-transfected with 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -HA and Liprin- $\beta$  -Myc or 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -HA and untagged Liprin- $\beta$  show interaction between Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . Immunoprecipitate with the 14-3-3 $\zeta$  -HA/Liprin- $\beta$  construct did not co-precipitate Liprin- $\alpha$ . Lanes 1 and 2 show the presence of endogenous Liprin- $\beta$  but Lane 8 shows that there is not enough present to give a strong signal when co-precipitated with 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -HA.

that the amount of endogenous Liprin- $\beta$  pulled down is too little to be observed on a Western blot analysis

## 2.3 Identification of 14-3-3ζ Binding Motifs

The 14-3-3 family of protein is known to bind other proteins at specific motifs conserved across species. Analyses carried out using synthetic phosphopeptides revealed that 14-3-3 proteins bind in one of two ways: to canonical motifs such as RSXpSXP and RX(F/Y)XpSXP or to a phosphorylated residue that is the penultimate amino acid of the C-terminus (http://scansite.mit.edu).<sup>151-152</sup> The pS represents the phosphoserine to which the 14-3-3s bind and X represents any amino acid<sup>24</sup>. Though other biding motifs exist, such as a substitution of phosphothreonine for the serine or even non-motif binding, RXXpSXP is the most common.<sup>24</sup> 14-3-3 proteins have been shown to bind to two separate proteins, such as in the plant plasma membrane proton pump where it binds two phosphorylated tails of adjacent subunits.<sup>153</sup>

However, 14-3-3s more commonly bind two phosphorylated sites within the same protein in a cooperative fashion.<sup>152, 154</sup> We searched for these motifs within the Liprin- $\alpha$  and - $\beta$  primary protein structure to identify the putative 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding sites.

# 2.3.1 Liprin Sequence Alignment

In order to locate the binding sites for 14-3-3 $\zeta$  on each of the Liprins we carried out an alignment of amino acid sequences from various eukaryotic species. We identified the conserved serines and threonines from each alignment and analyzed them for their likelihood of binding to 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . The possible serine and threonine binding sites were analyzed based on the criteria found in Table 2.

Criterion	Explanation
Conserved	It must be conserved across most, if not all, species
RXXpS	It is preceded by an arginine or other positively charged amino acid at least
	three but no more than five residues upstream
pSXP	It is followed by a proline two residues downstream
Location	It cannot be located within the coiled coil region or any of the SAM domains

**Table 2: Criteria for 14-3-3**ζ **Binding Motif Identification** 

On Liprin- $\beta$  we identified one site at S540 that follows the exact RXXpSXP pattern and met all of the criteria (Figure 7A). None of the serines nor the threonines on Liprin- $\alpha$  followed the pattern as closely as did Liprin- $\beta$ , nevertheless four other possible binding sites were identified that are similar, though not identical, to the 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding motif and met the criteria (Figure 7B and C). In one case, at S239, the serine was followed by a +2 glycine instead of a proline. We accepted this as a possible motif because both of these hydrophobic residues allow for kinks in the secondary and tertiary protein structure. The proline has been shown to twist the peptide out

A	LIPB1_HUMAN	522	RSSFGRGFFKIKSNIRTASAP			
	D3Z3W3_RAT K7ASN7_PANTR	442	RSSFGRGFFKIKSGRRTASAP	c	Liprin	AA
	GSBLK5_HETGA	527	RSSFGRGFFKIKSNURTASEP		β	\$540
					α	\$239
0	-1				α	T387
В	LIPA1 HUMAN	361	EDKNRQLQERLELAEQKLQQTLAKAETLPEV		α	\$530
L.	D32281 RAT	360	EDKNRQLQERLELAEQKLQQTLRKAETLPEV		α	SS679-680
	E18BK8_BOVIN H2Q4B7_PANTR	361 361	EDKNROLOERLELAEOKLOOTLARAETLPEV EDKNROLOERLELAEOKLOOTLA <mark>KAETLPE</mark> V			

**Figure 7 Locating the putative 14-3-3** $\zeta$  **binding motifs on Liprins.** A Alignment of a possible binding site on Liprin- $\beta$  at S540 and **B** on Liprin- $\alpha$  at T387. The red box denotes the conserved motif containing a pS or pT where 14-3-3 $\zeta$  could bind. All serines and threonines highlighted blue. **C** Table listing all the possible 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding sites identified on both Liprins. Column one indicates the Liprin family member, column two lists the amino acid residue according to the sequence found on uniprot.org, column three shows the whole motif surrounding the phosphorylation site.

Motif RTASAP KRSSDG KAETLP RPHLGSVP RSMSSIP

of the 14-3-3 docking site, a bond rotation that glycine is also capable of supporting due to its small size.<sup>26</sup> The necessity of this twist away from the 14-3-3 dimer remains unknown, but the substitution of a bulky or charged residue for the proline could disrupt the binding ability.<sup>24, 36</sup>

# 2.3.2 Mutation of the Binding Sites

The phosphorylation of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  motifs is required for binding of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to target proteins. By generating alanine mutations at the serine or threonine, as identified and described in Figure 7, we created Liprin mutants that cannot be phosphorylated at those residues. The inability of the mutants to be phosphorylated will allow us to identify the exact phosphoserine or threonine to which 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binds on one or both of the Liprins. The sequence of the final Liprin- $\alpha$  mutant contained two serines, one with an arginine at the -3 position and the other with a proline at +2. As either serine could be the target of phosphorylation and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding, both residues were mutated to alanine. The Liprin- $\beta$  and Liprin- $\alpha$  S530A mutants (denoted with \*) were prepared using the Agilent QuikChange Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit and primers designed with the QuikChange® Primer Design Program (Agilent Technologies, California). The remaining three mutant Liprin- $\alpha$  constructs (denoted with †) were prepared via site-directed mutagenesis using the Q5® Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit and primers designed using the NEBaseChanger<sup>TM</sup> (New England Biolabs, Massachusetts). The mutant Liprin- $\beta$  S540A construct is herein referred to only as Liprin- $\beta$  SA, as there was only a single mutant construct designed. The four Liprin- $\alpha$  SA mutants will be identified by the base number of the mutation (i.e. Liprin- $\alpha$  S239A). See Table 3 for a list of the primers used in site-directed mutagenesis, lower case letters indicate the bases altered to obtain the alanine mutant, results were validated with sequencing.

Mutation	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
*Liprin-β SA	AACAAGAGAACAGCAgcTGC	GCTAAGTTTGGTGCAgcTG
	ACCAAACTTAGC	CTGTTCTCTTGTT
†Liprin-α S239A	AAAGAGATCTgCTGATGGTT	CCACTCGTGCTTGGTGTA
	CTTTAAG	
†Liprin-α T387A	GAAGGCAGAGgCGCTCCCGG	CTCAGTGTCTGTTGCAGCT
		TTTGC
*Liprin-α S530A	CCCCACTTGGGCgcTGTCCCA	AAATCTGGGACAgcGCCCA
	GATTT	AGTGGGG
†Liprin-α SS679-	TAGATCTATGgccgCCATTCC	AAACGACCAAGATTGTCTAG
680AA	CCCC	

**Table 3: Primers for Site-Directed Mutagenesis** 

\* Agilent QuikChange Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit

† Q5® Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit

# 2.4 Proposed Effects of the Mutant Liprin Constructs

FLAG-tagged Liprin- $\alpha$  (WT, SA, and TA) constructs and Myc-tagged Liprin- $\beta$  (WT and

SA) constructs were transfected into HEK 293 cells. After a 48-hour incubation period the cells

were lysed using a 1% Triton-X100 lysis buffer and the proteins co-immunoprecipitated from the extract. The relative quantity of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  that co-precipitated with the tagged constructs was measured by separating the proteins on a Western blot and immunoblotting the precipitate with anti-14-3-3 $\zeta$  antibody. Equal loading was determined by immunoblot using an anti-FLAG (Liprin- $\alpha$ ) or anti-Myc (Liprin- $\beta$ ) antibody. The 14-3-3 $\zeta$  bands from the lanes treated with the mutant constructs were compared to the WT constructs to determine whether the alanine substitution disrupted the binding of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to the Liprins.

There were two possible outcomes for the binding of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to the Liprins mutants: 1) 14-3-3 $\zeta$  would not IP as strongly with the Liprin S/TA mutant, or 2) minimal to no change would be seen in the binding of the Liprin mutant when compared to the WT. Results showing the first outcome would indicate that the mutated residue plays an important role in the binding of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to Liprin. The second outcome would indicate that either 14-3-3 $\zeta$  does not interact with the mutated residue or that the binding between 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and the mutated serine or threonine is a weak interaction and not necessary to maintain the Liprin-14-3-3 $\zeta$  interaction.

The outcome would depend on the direct or indirect interaction between 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and the Liprin subunits. It could bind to two residues within one of the Liprins or one residue on each of the Liprins. The 14-3-3 $\zeta$  interactomics data supports the first hypothesis in that only Liprin- $\beta$  was identified as a binding partner. Liprin- $\alpha$  could still be part of the complex but have a direct interaction with Liprin- $\beta$  and an indirect interaction with 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . The second hypothesis is supported by the data in Figure 5 that illustrates how 14-3-3 $\zeta$  co-immunoprecipitates from cells treated with WT Liprin- $\alpha$ -FLAG. Additionally, the alignment data from Liprin- $\alpha$  indicate the possibility that Liprin- $\alpha$  binds to 14-3-3 $\zeta$  at one of the amino acid residues listed in Figure 7C. Though not an exact match to the most common RXXpS/TXP motif, the putative binding sites

on Liprin- $\alpha$  differ by only a few amino acids. For example, the T387A mutant differs only in the first amino acid, K, which is the second most common amino acid found at the -4 position. Furthermore, in the bovine Liprin- $\alpha$  protein, the lysine is an arginine, making it an exact match to the common 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding motif.

# 2.5 Liprin-α Mutants

We first tested the Liprin- $\alpha$  mutants because the Liprin- $\alpha$  construct contained a FLAG tag to aid in immunoprecipitation. Initially only the S530A mutant was tested, but it showed no decrease in the amount of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding, the amount of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  pulled down by the Liprin- $\alpha$ mutant compared in quantity to that of the wild type (WT) (Figure 8A). Following the S530A mutation, we mutated the WT Liprin- $\alpha$  construct with three separate sets of primers to obtain the S239A, T387A, and SS679-680AA mutants. Initially the T387A construct obtained was truncated (Figure 8B), which did not pull down 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and only minimally interacted with Liprin- $\beta$  so the WT Liprin- $\alpha$  was mutated once again with the Q5® Site-Directed Mutagenesis kit to obtain the complete, mutated Liprin- $\alpha$ . As seen in Figure 8C and D, none of these constructs were able to inhibit the co-immunoprecipitation of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  with Liprin- $\alpha$ . These results indicate that the interaction between 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and the Liprin complex occurs either completely or primarily on Liprin- $\beta$ .

![](_page_36_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 8 Liprin-** $\alpha$  **SA mutants do not inhibit 14-3-3** $\zeta$  **co-immunoprecipitation.** A S530A mutant is able to co-IP Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  in comparative quantities, gray arrow indicates Liprin- $\beta$ . **B** SS679-680AA and S239A mutants also pull down 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprin- $\beta$ . Orange arrow indicates Liprin- $\alpha$ , green arrow indicates IgG, and gray arrow indicates Liprin- $\beta$ . Red \* denotes truncated T387A mutant. **C** T387A mutant is also able to pull down 14-3-3 $\zeta$  in quantities comparative to the WT.

# 2.6 Liprin-β Mutants

Initially, the putative 14-3-3 $\zeta$  interaction with Liprin- $\beta$  was the more promising of the two Liprins for two reasons: first, the beta isoform was the only Liprin originally identified in the interactomics study and second, it contains a conserved 14-3-3 phospho-binding motif at serine 540. To determine whether the Liprin- $\beta$  SA mutant construct is able to interact with 14-3-3 $\zeta$  in vivo, we overexpressed and immunoprecipitated N-terminal Myc-tagged Liprin- $\beta$  (referred to herein as Liprin- $\beta$ -Myc) from HEK 293 cells. The resulting Western blot showed little binding of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and no difference between the mutated and WT forms (Figure 9A).

![](_page_37_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 9 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , Liprin- $\alpha$ , and LAR do not co-immunoprecipitate with Liprin- $\beta$  WT or SA mutants. A Liprin- $\beta$  containing a Myc tag at the N-terminal transfected into HEK 293 cells only co-precipitates 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to a limited degree. B Validation of A indicates that Liprin- $\beta$  pulldown does not co-precipitate 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . Gray arrows indicate Liprin- $\alpha$  bands.

Interestingly, neither Liprin- $\alpha$  nor LAR precipitated with Liprin- $\beta$ . Though we did not anticipate observing an interaction with LAR, as it directly interacts with Liprin- $\alpha$ , we expected that the Liprin- $\alpha$  co-precipitation could act somewhat as a positive control. As was discussed in the previous section, Liprin- $\beta$  is able to co-precipitate with as Liprin- $\alpha$ -FLAG pulldown. Previous reports conclude that these two Liprins interact via their C-terminal LH domain, yet we were unable to observe that interaction in any of our Liprin- $\beta$  co-IP Western blot analyses, as will be shown hereafter.

The data shown in Figure 9A seem to contradict our prediction and preliminary data that indicate a tight interaction between 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprin- $\beta$ , though we did observe limited binding between both the WT and mutant Liprin- $\beta$  SA constructs. Thinking that perhaps there was an error in how the co-IP was performed, we repeated the experiment, taking care to follow the protocol exactly and observed no co-precipitation of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  with a Liprin- $\beta$  pulldown (Figure 9B). Additionally, we observed that the Myc IP expressed lower levels than the Myc in the lysate. This is not normally the case with IPs, but could be due to inaccessibility of the Myc tag or poor affinity for the antibody expressed on the beads. Though these data oppose our hypothesis, possible explanations include obstruction of the binding site by the Myc tag, or tooharsh lysis conditions. In order to rule out these as possibilities of interference we carried out further tests and accounted for these variables, as described in the following sections.

# 2.6.1 Liprin-β-CMyc

The lack of binding between Liprin- $\beta$  and Liprin- $\alpha/14-3-3\zeta$  could be due to steric hindrance or occlusion of the binding site by the Myc tag. This was the most likely factor affecting the binding because, as previously mentioned, the Myc IP was not as strong as the Myc

in the total lysate. To ensure that the weak or nonexistent interaction between Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  was not due to the placement of the Myc tag, we created a Liprin- $\beta$  construct with a Cterminal Myc tag, hereafter referred to as CMyc. The Liprin- $\beta$ -CMyc constructs (both WT and SA) were transfected into HEK 293 cells, co-immunoprecipitated, and run on a Western blot (Figure 10A). Placement of the Myc tag on the C-terminal did not increase Liprin- $\alpha$  or 14-3-3 $\zeta$ binding. Again we saw less Myc in the IP than we did in the total lysate. We also saw limited pulldown of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ .

This blot was the most promising, as there appeared to be a stronger interactions between Liprin- $\beta$ -CMyc and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  than between Liprin- $\beta$ -Myc and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . Additionally, the Liprin- $\beta$  SA-CMyc appeared to have a weaker interaction with 14-3-3 $\zeta$  than the WT construct, though we are unable to conclusively determine that the SA mutation diminishes binding with 14-3-3 $\zeta$  because we were unable to validate this in subsequent co-IP/WB analyses (Figure 10B). We blotted using an antibody specific to the phospho 14-3-3 motif (pMotif) and saw that the antibody specifically recognized WT Liprin- $\beta$  but not Liprin- $\alpha$  nor the Liprin- $\beta$  SA mutant. We were unable to conclude that the CMyc tag was more effective than the Myc tag on the N-terminus due to our inability to validate the IP.

# **2.6.2** Liprin-β IP with a Gentle Lysis Buffer

Another possible source of disruption on the interaction between these proteins comes from the lysis buffer. The results previously described were obtained using a harsh lysis buffer capable of extracting the membrane-bound LAR from the phospholipid bilayer. In these Liprin- $\beta$ immunoprecipitations we are not looking for interaction with LAR (as it binds directly to Liprin- $\alpha$  but not Liprin- $\beta$ ) so we carried out a lysis using a different, less harsh, lysis buffer (Figure

![](_page_40_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 10 Co-IP of Liprin- $\beta$  not improved by CMyc tag, lysis buffer, or cell type. A Liprin- $\beta$  containing a CMyc tag cells only minimally co-precipitate 14-3-3 $\zeta$  but not Liprin- $\alpha$ . WT Liprin- $\beta$  is recognized by the pMotif antibody (lanes 6 and 7). **B** A second co-IP and Western blot using Liprin- $\beta$ -CMyc showed no transfection. **C** Cells transfected with WT and Liprin- $\beta$  SA were lysed with a gentle lysis buffer, this still does not significantly co-precipitate 14-3-3 $\zeta$  or Liprin- $\alpha$  with Liprin- $\beta$ . **D** Liprin- $\beta$  does not significantly co-precipitate 14-3-3 $\zeta$  or Liprin- $\alpha$  from either HEK 293 or HeLa cells. Gray arrow indicates Liprin- $\alpha$  immunofluorescence.

10C). Despite using a gentler lysis buffer and procedure, 14-3-3 $\zeta$  only showed minimal coprecipitation (with no difference between WT and SA Liprin- $\beta$  constructs) and Liprin- $\alpha$  still did not precipitate with the Myc-tagged Liprin- $\beta$ . Though minimal amounts of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  co-IP were observed, there was no measurable difference between the WT and SA Liprin- $\beta$  constructs. We concluded that the lysis conditions between the two buffers had little to no effect on the amount of Myc-tagged proteins that precipitated with the myc antibodies conjugated to agarose beads (Figure 10B lanes 5 and 6), nor did it appear to greatly affect the co-precipitation of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ .

# 2.6.3 Liprin-β Transfection in HEK 293 and HeLa Cells

In a final attempt to precipitate Liprin- $\alpha$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  with Liprin- $\beta$ , we transfected both HEK 293 and HeLa cells with the WT and mutant Liprin- $\beta$ -Myc constructs and carried out a lysis, immunoprecipitation, and Western blot analysis. As with the previous attempts, neither of the target proteins measurably co-precipitate (Figure 10D). Strangely, we were able to observe a transfection of Liprin- $\beta$ -Myc into the HeLa cells, but it did not appear in the IP. This leads us to believe that the IP of Liprin- $\beta$  with Myc antibodies conjugated to agarose beads is inefficient and needs to be optimized.

# 2.6.4 Liprin-β Conclusion

The results of the interactomics study along with research in primary literature lead us to hypothesize that Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  would have a strong interaction observable by co-IP and Western blot analysis. Despite the promising preliminary data we collected using Liprin- $\alpha$ -FLAG precipitations and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ /Liprin- $\beta$  co-transfections (Figure 6) we were unable to obtain a valid, replicable co-IP using Liprin- $\beta$  pulldown using C-terminal and N-terminal Myc tags.

We chose to use Myc tags on the Liprin- $\beta$  constructs because our Liprin- $\alpha$  had a FLAG tag and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  an HA tag. By tagging Liprin- $\beta$  with Myc, we would be able to easily distinguish between all three proteins in the event of a co-transfection. However, the IPs run with Myctagged proteins were inefficient when compared to those done with FLAG- and HA-tagged proteins. When adding the Myc tag onto the Liprin- $\beta$  construct, we also made a construct with a FLAG tag, in case the Myc tag addition did not work properly. However, sequencing data validated that both constructs had the proper tag added to the plasmid containing Liprin- $\beta$ . We determined that the best course of action would be to use the Myc-tagged construct, as it would help us distinguish exogenous Liprin- $\beta$  from exogenous Liprin- $\alpha$  or 14-3-3 $\zeta$  when running cotransfections. The Liprin- $\beta$ -FLAG construct was never prepared past addition of the tag, though for future work the FLAG-tagged construct may prove more reliable than the Myc-tagged Liprin- $\beta$ . When considering the data from Figure 6 in addition to that presented in Figures 9 and 10, we can see that the Liprin- $\beta$ -Myc and –CMyc immunoprecipitations are unreliable and the data inconclusive.

#### 2.7 Proposed Mechanism of Liprin-Mediated Metastasis

LAR is a PTPase known to dephosphorylate and interact with proteins that participate in cell adhesion. The PTPase family is divided into two groups, or subfamilies, consisting of receptor-like (RPTP) and nonreceptor PTPases, which function by dephosphorylating tyrosyl-phosphorylated proteins.<sup>105-106</sup> Like other RPTPs, LAR possesses a single transmembrane domain and two intracellular phosphatase domains named D1 and D2.<sup>106-107</sup> Unlike most receptors, ligand binding typically causes inactivation of the RPTPs through dimerization and inhibition of the active D1 domain by occlusion from the D1 domain of the opposing subunit.<sup>108-112</sup> The D1 domain is believed to carry out the PTPase activity while the D2 domain typically

remains inactive but plays a key regulatory role in determining substrate specificity.<sup>110, 113-116</sup> Liprin- $\alpha$  binds to the D2 domain of LAR PTPase and is believed to influence which substrates LAR dephosphorylates when bound to Liprins.<sup>117</sup> Published findings and our data indicate that both 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and LAR participate in the activation of cell motility. We posit that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  utilizes LAR-mediated responses in order to cause an increase in the ability of a cell to migrate. We propose that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  plays a scaffolding role with Liprin- $\beta$ , allowing it to bind Liprin- $\alpha$ , thus aiding in the localization to the cell periphery where it recruits LAR (Figure 11).

![](_page_43_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 11 Proposed model of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ induced and Liprin-mediated metastasis. The 14-3-3 $\zeta$  homodimer binds to a phosphorylated motif on Liprin- $\beta$  and putatively on Liprin- $\alpha$ . This interaction facilitates the recruitment of LAR to the cell periphery where the complex initiates metastasis.

Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), the counterpart to RPTPs, act in a manner distinct to that of RPTPs and are activated through ligand-induced dimerization whereupon each subunit participates in a trans-phosphorylation of tyrosine residues on the opposing receptor.<sup>134</sup> RTKs

require a triple phosphorylation in order to remain fully active and often are inactivated through dephosphorylation by either a nonreceptor PTPase or an RPTP. One such RTK substrate of the LAR PTPase is Ephrin type-A receptor 2 (EphA2),<sup>135</sup> also known as epithelial-cell kinase (Eck), which is a member of the largest family of RTKs.<sup>136</sup> Like the other 13 members of the Ephrin family, EphA2 is membrane-bound and activated by ligands called ephrins, specifically ephrin-A. It is believed that the Eph-ephrin interaction and signaling cascade participate in cell motility by limiting migration through inhibition of integrin-mediated adhesion and spreading, thus obstructing migration.<sup>137-140</sup>

We propose that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  overexpression initiates metastasis by recruiting LAR to the cell periphery where it can dephosphorylate EphA2, thus inactivating its ability to stabilize integrins and FAs at the cell surface. This, in turn, triggers the uptake of FAs into the cell causing a loss of adhesion with the surrounding tissue and ECM, whereupon the cell is free to mobilize and metastasize to a secondary site within the organism as depicted in Figure 2.

# 2.7.1 Effect of 14-3-3ζ on Liprin-α-LAR Binding

Considering the role of Liprins in cell motility and given that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  has been shown to initiate cell movement and play a part in invasion, the 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -binding deficient mutants should disrupt the ability of the cells to metastasize.<sup>23, 50-51, 155</sup> However, in order to ensure that the effect of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -Liprin binding plays a role in metastasis, we must measure the ability of these mutant proteins to interact with LAR. 14-3-3 $\zeta$  has been shown to interact with Liprin- $\beta$ , which is known to bind Liprin- $\alpha$ . Liprin- $\alpha$ , in turn binds LAR and the two have been shown to work cooperatively to induce cell motility.<sup>118-119, 144</sup> It has been shown that the overexpression of full length Liprin- $\alpha$  is sufficient to drive motility and cause a change in the distribution of FAs at the

cell surface, however, truncated versions of the same protein were unable to do so.<sup>119</sup> Furthermore, Liprin- $\alpha$ - $\Delta$ SAM2 mutants, which lack the domain of the LH region where LAR interaction occurs, were unable to increase cell spreading of COS-7 cells.<sup>118</sup> Considered together, all of this data leads to the conclusion that Liprin- $\alpha$  plays a role in cell motility but alone is insufficient to induce it.

As noted above, Liprin- $\alpha$ - $\Delta$ SAM2 mutants are unable to bind LAR and many of the Liprin-mediated effects on cell motility are undetected in cells transfected with  $\Delta$ SAM2 mutants. Liprin- $\alpha$  and Liprin- $\beta$  have been shown to form heterodimers through their C-terminal LH domains though the exact location of binding remains unknown.<sup>117</sup>

In accordance with this data and as seen in Figure 12, Liprin- $\alpha$ - $\Delta$ SAM2 can still coimmunoprecipitate Liprin- $\beta$ , indicating that it does not bind to the SAM2 domain. This does not

![](_page_45_Picture_3.jpeg)

**Figure 12 Liprin-** $\alpha$ **-** $\Delta$ **SAM2 can bind Liprin-** $\beta$ **.** Cells transfected with a mutant form of Liprin- $\alpha$  lacking the second SAM domain for the LH region are able to co-IP both Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  (lane 4) despite its inability to interact with LAR.

directly indicate that Liprin- $\alpha$  can bind both LAR and Liprin- $\beta$  but rather it shows that they do not bind to the same SAM domain within Liprin- $\alpha$ , which suggests that Liprin- $\alpha$  could possibly bind to both proteins. Additionally, the results show that Liprin- $\alpha$  binds both Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  simultaneously. Previous research insinuates that the formation of Liprin- $\alpha/\beta$  heterodimers at the C-terminal LH domain precludes them from binding to other proteins.<sup>117</sup> Our results, however, show that this is not the case, as both 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprin- $\beta$  co-immunoprecipitate with Liprin- $\alpha$ .

# 2.7.2 Effect of 14-3-3ζ on EphA2 and IRβ Phosphorylation

LAR is a membrane-bound protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTPase) known to dephosphorylate Insulin Receptor  $\beta$  (IR $\beta$ ) and EphA2.<sup>135, 156</sup> As a phosphatase we can visualize LAR activity by measuring the amount of phosphorylation on its substrates. Through interaction with LAR, we believe that Liprins and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  cause an increase in the dephosphorylation activity of LAR, though this theory remains to be tested. Additionally, one key question is whether Liprin interaction with LAR determines what substrates LAR targets. Based on our data and previously published findings, we posit that Liprin- $\alpha$  increases LAR phosphatase activity promoting the disassembly of FAs and increase in cell motility.

LAR has been shown to dephosphorylate both pIR $\beta$  and pEphA2 at Y1150 and Y930, respectively. Ideally we would quantify the relative phosphorylation of EphA2 upon overexpression of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , however no antibody exists for pEphA2 at Y930. Before making our own antibody, we validated our proposed method by observing the phosphorylation of pIR $\beta$ . While HEK 293 cells express pIR $\alpha$ , they do not express significant levels of pIR $\beta$  so the experiments described herein was conducted using HeLa cells. Similar to the experiments described above, we carried out a Western blot analysis to measure LAR phosphatase activity. We used siRNA to knock down 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , and Liprin- $\beta$  in HeLa cells in parallel experiments. After a 12 hour incubation, each plate containing the transfected or untransfected (control) cells was split into three different plates. Each set of cells (consisting of one plate split from each of those initially transfected) will receive a different treatment prior to lysis and analysis. At 36 hours, one set of cells was treated with hypoxia (hypoxia is herein used to refer to conditions of low glucose and low oxygen, mimicking the conditions found in the interior of a tumor); at 46 hours, the second set was treated with serum starvation using EBSS media; the final set received no treatment, mimicking normoxic conditions. At 48 hours all three sets of cells were lysed and the proteins extracted. The proteins extracts were run on a Western blot and stained using an immunofluorescent anti-pIR $\beta$  Y1150/1151 antibody (Figure 13).

siRNA 14-3-3ζ	-	-	+	-	-	+	-	-	+	
siRNA Liprin-β	-	+	-	-	+	-	-	+	-	
EBSS	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	
Hypoxia	i <b>-</b>	-	-	-	-		+	+	+	
pIR	100 - 100 -			10.00		10.000				]
Liprin-β	4	1			1	-	1	-		]⊲
14-3-3ζ	-	and the second second		(Append)	and the		-	-	1000	
Actin		100		Sec.	<b>Barrie</b>	head				

Figure 13 Phosphorylation of IR $\beta$  in HeLa cells remains unchanged by knock down of Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . HeLa cells transfected with siRNA to Liprin- $\beta$  or 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and analyzed for phosphorylation of IR $\beta$  in conditions of normoxia, hypoxia, and serum starvation showed no change. Gray arrow indicates nonspecific band from the anti-IR $\beta$  antibody.

The results of the analysis were inconclusive for a few different reasons: 1) The anti-pIR $\beta$  antibody bound nonspecifically to various proteins, and at the molecular weight corresponding to pIR $\beta$  it showed little to no signal. 2) We were unable to obtain a good knock down of Liprin- $\beta$ . 3) As this was only a preliminary experiment it lacked the proper controls, such as an antibody for pIR $\alpha$ . 4) While we used a lysis buffer shown previously to extract membrane-bound proteins, we cannot say for sure whether it was able to extract pIR $\beta$  from the phospholipid bilayer without causing it to precipitate with the cellular debris. We concluded that using siRNA knockdown of Liprins or 14-3-3 $\zeta$  in HeLa cells as described in this section and looking for an effect on phosphorylation is not the ideal method of evaluating the dephosphorylation of EphA2 by LAR PTPase.

## 2.8 Thoughts and Conclusions

When synthesizing the data discussed in this chapter and writing out the results, or lack thereof, in the form of a thesis, it was very disheartening to realize that there is very little to actually include and even less that I can publish. It appears at first as though very little work was actually accomplished and in one sense of the word, that is true. Despite the work, thought, and effort put in by multiple researchers, I can offer no conclusive data. However, to me the work described in this chapter represents more than just data and conclusions. To me it represents two years of learning how to work in a lab, read primary literature, and most importantly think like a researcher. I have come to realize that the bulk of the work is not shown in the concluding research article, thesis, dissertation, or review, or other publication. Oftentimes the most important things are those not represented at all: the long hours spent rehashing data and literary searches when you should have been sleeping, the number of tears shed when your experiment didn't work yet again, and the elation of finally getting one tiny thing to work the way it should,

even if it isn't necessarily publishable. Like many others involved in research, it's these moments and the hunger for knowledge that keep me going despite the odds. I believe that this work with Liprins and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  sets forth the foundation for further research and actual conclusive data. In the following chapter I will discuss a few of the thoughts I have had about the future possibilities for research into Liprins and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and their role in cancer cell metastasis.

#### **3** FUTURE DIRECTION

#### **3.1** Identify the 14-3-3ζ Binding Sites

Despite the work described in Chapter 2, we obtained no conclusive evidence as to where 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binds to Liprin- $\beta$ . We also were unable to elucidate whether it bound to Liprin- $\alpha$ , as the immunoprecipitation data seems to suggest. These results are most likely due to the fact that 14-3-3 family proteins normally dimerize and bind to two different phosphorylation sites within the same protein, though occasionally they have been found to bind one phospho-site each on two adjacent proteins. In order to determine the exact sites of binding on Liprins, we could approach the problem from one of two ways. The first is to use a proteomic study of one or both of the Liprins and analyze the data for sites of phosphorylation.

The second is to make larger deletions within the Liprin protein(s) or to mutate two putative binding sites within the same plasmid. While each method could provide the necessary information, both have their drawbacks. Truncation or deletion mutations could cause the Liprin protein to fold in a manner that would disrupt interaction with the kinase and prevent phosphorylation, which would impede 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding. If the kinase were able to gain access, the misfolding could also prevent 14-3-3 $\zeta$  itself from binding. Thus, large deletions are a useful but occasionally inaccurate tool for interaction studies. The problem with making double mutations of the identified sites is that it involves a large amount of work to obtain the desired results. For example, if we were to carry out double mutations on the Liprin-a plasmid, it would require six new plasmids to be generated. Additionally, that doesn't account for the 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding occurring between both subunits of a Liprin heterodimer. Despite the drawbacks, these methods could prove useful in obtaining the 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -binding-deficient Liprin mutants.

## 3.2 Mimicking Phosphorylation

In our 14-3-3 $\zeta$  proteomics study where we identified Liprin- $\beta$  as a novel interacting partner, we saw that the interaction took place under normoxic conditions and that hypoxia treatment causes the dissociation of Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . This correlates with the LAR activity assays previously described in which serum starvation causes an increase in phosphorylation of LAR substrates, indicating that low glucose levels cause a decrease in LAR activity.<sup>135, 156</sup> Low glucose results in a decrease in kinase activity, causing a decrease in Liprin phosphorylation at the serine residues to which 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binds.

Once the location of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding has been identified by null mutations in the Liprin constructs, we can mimic phosphorylation by mutating the serine or threonine residue(s) to aspartic acid (D) or glutamic acid (E). The D or E mutant mimics phosphorylation by adding a permanent negative charge to the amino acid residue that it substitutes for, the residue at which phosphorylation normally takes place. This prevents the protein construct from becoming dephosphorylated. As the negative charge is necessary for the binding of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , this mutation could act as a positive control for the effect of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  on the cellular mechanisms and complex formation described herein.

These phosphomimetic mutants should not require kinase activity in order to bind 14-3- $3\zeta$  and thus these mutant Liprins should interact with 14-3- $3\zeta$  without the need for high glucose concentrations (under hypoxic conditions and serum starvation). For further testing we could

utilize the phosphomimetic Liprin mutants to increase LAR activity even under conditions of hypoxia and serum starvation. In cells that overexpress the D/E Liprin mutants, we should see a decrease in LAR substrate phosphorylation indicating that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  binding to Liprins is sufficient and necessary to activate the LAR PTPase.

## **3.3** Liprin-α/β and 14-3-3ζ Complex Formation

After identifying the binding sites through alanine mutations, we will use siRNA to determine the necessity of Liprin- $\beta$  in complex formation with Liprin- $\alpha$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . Originally, only Liprin- $\beta$  was identified as a binding partner of 14-3-3 $\zeta$ , though Liprin- $\alpha$  cannot be ignored due to its ability to co-immunoprecipitate 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . However, the strength of the interaction between Liprin- $\alpha$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$  might be weak enough that it was removed in the wash steps prior to mass spectrometry analysis. If so, Liprin- $\alpha$  could still bind to 14-3-3 $\zeta$  independently of Liprin- $\beta$ . By knocking out the endogenous Liprin- $\beta$  and immunoprecipitating Liprin- $\alpha$ , we can determine whether the beta subunit is necessary to facilitate the interaction between 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to carry out its role in Liprin- $\beta$  in complex formation and reveal if it is required for 14-3-3 $\zeta$  to carry out its role in Liprin-mediated metastasis. This theory could be tested by co-transfecting WT Liprin- $\alpha$  with a phosphorylation deficient Liprin- $\beta$  mutant, immunoprecipitating Liprin- $\alpha$ , and blotting for 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . Additionally, this could be validated by using siRNA to Liprin- $\beta$ , pulling down Liprin- $\alpha$ , and again blotting for 14-3-3 $\zeta$ .

As only Liprin- $\beta$  was found in the proteomics study, we can assume that if Liprin- $\alpha$  binds 14-3-3 $\zeta$  it does so through a weak interaction. With this knowledge, we would expect to see that the Liprin- $\beta$  knockdown causes a decrease in the binding between Liprin- $\alpha$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . These results would indicate that, while 14-3-3 $\zeta$  may still bind to Liprin- $\alpha$ , the stronger and more

physiologically relevant interaction takes place on Liprin- $\beta$ . If not, and Liprin- $\alpha$  is capable of binding 14-3-3 $\zeta$  in the absence of Liprin- $\beta$ , then the binding of these two proteins is not dependent on the interaction between Liprin- $\beta$  and 14-3-3 $\zeta$ . From these experiments, the function of Liprin- $\beta$  in 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -Liprin binding will be more clearly defined and will assist in the experimental design and interpretation of results from the phenotypic characterization as described below.

#### **3.4 Effect on LAR Localization**

Liprin- $\alpha$  overexpression has been shown to increase the amount of LAR localized to the cell periphery. In COS-7 cells under normal conditions and without treatment, LAR is evenly distributed throughout the cytoplasm, however, upon overexpression of Liprin- $\alpha$  LAR begins to have a punctate expression pattern within the cell, localized at the periphery.<sup>117</sup> Additionally, truncated LAR constructs that are missing the D2 PTPase domain where Liprin- $\alpha$  binding occurs also spread evenly throughout the cell and do not congregate at the cell periphery. We posit that Liprin- $\alpha$ -LAR binding is increased upon overexpression of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  which facilitates the complex formation with Liprin- $\alpha$  and LAR and recruitment to the cell periphery.

This could be tested using immunofluorescent staining and microscopy to visualize the effect of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  overexpression or knock down on LAR localization. We would expect to observe a correlation between the level of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  expression and the localization of LAR. By imaging 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprins, we would also expect to observe increased fluorescence correlating to 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprin recruitment to the cell edge where they can recruit LAR and initiate its PTPase activity.

#### 3.5 Focal Adhesion Turnover

Tumors cells develop the ability to spread throughout an organism and avoid chemotherapy by internalizing FAs, thus releasing from the primary tumor, and subverting anoikis in order to metastasize. Previous work in non-cancerous cells has shown that full length Liprin- $\alpha$  interacts with LAR to cause the disassembly of focal adhesions, particularly at the leading edge of moving cells. Cells use FAs and AJs to maintain contact with the surrounding cells and ECM in order to facilitate signal transduction, increase stability, and prevent cancerous cells from metastasizing and forming secondary tumors. We postulate that cancer cells use 14-3-3 $\zeta$ -mediated interactions to utilize the inherent cellular mechanism of LAR-mediated disassembly of FAs to release from the primary tumor and metastasize.

This could be tested using GFP-tagged Paxillin, a component of FAs, and imaging their turnover at the cell surface through immunofluorescent microscopy. Transfection of GFP-Paxillin could be done in MDA-MB-231 cells, a breast cancer cell line known to have high levels of cell motility, in the presence and absence of 14-3-3ζ. Live cell fluorescence microscopy could be utilized to visualize where in the cell the FAs congregate. We anticipate that 14-3-3ζ overexpression will increase the GFP-Paxillin, and thus FA, turnover in cells. Conversely, the cells in which 14-3-3ζ is knocked down will show more stable levels of GFP-Paxillin at the cell surface. In the MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line that has increased cell motility, we anticipate that 14-3-3ζ will cause the GFP-Paxillin to localize to the leading edge and show increased turnover rates.

#### 3.6 Liprin-Mediated Metastasis in Breast Cancer Cells

The experiments described above elucidate how 14-3-3 $\zeta$  affects some of the hallmarks of cell motility, such as FA turnover and LAR localization to the cell periphery. However, the results of these tests do not provide conclusive evidence that the Liprin-14-3-3 $\zeta$  interaction causes an increase in cell motility or, in the case of breast cancer cells, metastasis. In order to more clearly define the role of this interaction in metastasis, the 14-3-3*z* and Liprin binding could be disrupted in the highly metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231 by overexpressing Liprin SA or TA mutants. In a similar fashion, HEK 293 cells that do not normally metastasize could be transfected with 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and WT Liprins. The live cell imaging of lamellipodia formation as well as motility and movement could be done in both cell lines following a procedure similar to that described in Astro *et al*, 2011.<sup>144</sup>

14-3-3 $\zeta$  has been shown to correlate with increased metastasis in cancer cells and is used by some as a marker for patient prognosis and likelihood of cancer recurrence. We expect that the untreated MDA-MB-231 cells will show a higher level of lamellipodia formation as well as motility. When treated with Liprin SA or TA mutants, the amount of movement as well as the lamellipodia formation should be decreased due to the lack of antagonizing effect of 14-3-3 $\zeta$  via the Liprin pathway. By overexpressing 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprins in HEK 293 cells and plating them on a surface that allows for movement, we expect to see an increase in motility, even in these cells known to be non-invasive. This would indicate that 14-3-3 $\zeta$  and Liprin overexpression is sufficient to induce metastasis.

# REFERENCES

1. Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R. A., The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* **2000**, *100* (1), 57-70.

2. Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R. A., Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **2011**, *144* (5), 646-74.

3. Weigelt, B.; Peterse, J. L.; van 't Veer, L. J., Breast cancer metastasis: markers and models. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **2005**, *5* (8), 591-602.

4. Boye, K.; Maelandsmo, G. M., S100A4 and Metastasis A Small Actor Playing Many Roles. *Am J Pathol* **2010**, *176* (2), 528-535.

5. Gupta, G. P.; Massague, J., Cancer metastasis: building a framework. *Cell* **2006**, *127* (4), 679-95.

6. Fidler, I. J.; Kripke, M. L., Metastasis results from preexisting variant cells within a malignant tumor. *Science* **1977**, *197* (4306), 893-5.

7. Moore, B. W.; Perez, V. J.; Penaramo.A, Preparation of 3 New Soluble Acidic Proteins from Brain. *Fed Proc* **1967**, *26* (2), 675-&.

8. Aitken, A., 14-3-3 proteins: A historic overview. *Semin Cancer Biol* **2006**, *16* (3), 162-172.

9. Mahler, H. R.; Brown, B. J., Protein synthesis by cerebral cortex polysomes: characterization of the system. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **1968**, *125* (2), 387-400.

10. Tzivion, G.; Gupta, V. S.; Kaplun, L.; Balan, V., 14-3-3 proteins as potential oncogenes. *Semin Cancer Biol* **2006**, *16* (3), 203-13.

11. van Hemert, M. J.; Steensma, H. Y.; van Heusden, G. P., 14-3-3 proteins: key regulators of cell division, signalling and apoptosis. *Bioessays* **2001**, *23* (10), 936-46.

12. Pozuelo Rubio, M.; Peggie, M.; Wong, B. H.; Morrice, N.; MacKintosh, C., 14-3-3s regulate fructose-2,6-bisphosphate levels by binding to PKB-phosphorylated cardiac fructose-2,6-bisphosphate kinase/phosphatase. *The EMBO journal* **2003**, *22* (14), 3514-23.

13. Pozuelo Rubio, M.; Geraghty, K. M.; Wong, B. H.; Wood, N. T.; Campbell, D. G.; Morrice, N.; Mackintosh, C., 14-3-3-affinity purification of over 200 human phosphoproteins reveals new links to regulation of cellular metabolism, proliferation and trafficking. *The Biochemical journal* **2004**, *379* (Pt 2), 395-408.

14. Hermeking, H.; Benzinger, A., 14-3-3 proteins in cell cycle regulation. *Semin Cancer Biol* **2006**, *16* (3), 183-92.

15. Morrison, D. K., The 14-3-3 proteins: integrators of diverse signaling cues that impact cell fate and cancer development. *Trends in cell biology* **2009**, *19* (1), 16-23.

16. Wilker, E.; Yaffe, M. B., 14-3-3 Proteins--a focus on cancer and human disease. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology* **2004**, *37* (3), 633-42.

17. Bridges, D.; Moorhead, G. B., 14-3-3 proteins: a number of functions for a numbered protein. *Sci STKE* **2005**, *2005* (296), re10.

18. Darling, D. L.; Yingling, J.; Wynshaw-Boris, A., Role of 14-3-3 proteins in eukaryotic signaling and development. *Curr Top Dev Biol* **2005**, *68*, 281-315.

19. Dougherty, M. K.; Morrison, D. K., Unlocking the code of 14-3-3. *Journal of cell science* **2004**, *117* (Pt 10), 1875-84.

20. Mhawech, P., 14-3-3 proteins--an update. *Cell Res* **2005**, *15* (4), 228-36.

21. Michelsen, K.; Yuan, H.; Schwappach, B., Hide and run. Arginine-based endoplasmic-reticulum-sorting motifs in the assembly of heteromultimeric membrane proteins. *EMBO Rep* **2005**, *6* (8), 717-22.

22. van Heusden, G. P.; Steensma, H. Y., Yeast 14-3-3 proteins. Yeast 2006, 23 (3), 159-71.

23. Neal, C. L.; Yu, D., 14-3-3zeta as a prognostic marker and therapeutic target for cancer. *Expert opinion on therapeutic targets* **2010**, *14* (12), 1343-54.

24. Johnson, C.; Crowther, S.; Stafford, M. J.; Campbell, D. G.; Toth, R.; MacKintosh, C., Bioinformatic and experimental survey of 14-3-3-binding sites. *The Biochemical journal* **2010**, *427* (1), 69-78.

25. Li, Z.; Liu, J. Y.; Zhang, J. T., 14-3-3sigma, the double-edged sword of human cancers. *Am J Transl Res* **2009**, *1* (4), 326-40.

26. Sinha, P.; Kohl, S.; Fischer, J.; Hutter, G.; Kern, M.; Kottgen, E.; Dietel, M.; Lage, H.; Schnolzer, M.; Schadendorf, D., Identification of novel proteins associated with the development of chemoresistance in malignant melanoma using two-dimensional electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis* **2000**, *21* (14), 3048-57.

27. Vazquez, A.; Grochola, L. F.; Bond, E. E.; Levine, A. J.; Taubert, H.; Muller, T. H.; Wurl, P.; Bond, G. L., Chemosensitivity profiles identify polymorphisms in the p53 network genes 14-3-3tau and CD44 that affect sarcoma incidence and survival. *Cancer research* **2010**, *70* (1), 172-80.

28. Aitken, A.; Baxter, H.; Dubois, T.; Clokie, S.; Mackie, S.; Mitchell, K.; Peden, A.; Zemlickova, E., Specificity of 14-3-3 isoform dimer interactions and phosphorylation. *Biochem Soc Trans* **2002**, *30* (4), 351-60.

29. Hermeking, H., The 14-3-3 cancer connection. *Nature reviews. Cancer* 2003, *3* (12), 93143.

30. Subramanian, R. R.; Masters, S. C.; Zhang, H.; Fu, H., Functional conservation of 14-3-3 isoforms in inhibiting bad-induced apoptosis. *Experimental cell research* **2001**, *271* (1), 142-51.

31. Braselmann, S.; McCormick, F., Bcr and Raf form a complex in vivo via 14-3-3 proteins. *The EMBO journal* **1995**, *14* (19), 4839-48.

32. Han, D. C.; Rodriguez, L. G.; Guan, J. L., Identification of a novel interaction between integrin beta1 and 14-3-3beta. *Oncogene* **2001**, *20* (3), 346-57.

33. Lee, J.; Kumagai, A.; Dunphy, W. G., Positive regulation of Wee1 by Chk1 and 14-3-3 proteins. *Mol Biol Cell* **2001**, *12* (3), 551-63.

34. Lopez-Girona, A.; Furnari, B.; Mondesert, O.; Russell, P., Nuclear localization of Cdc25 is regulated by DNA damage and a 14-3-3 protein. *Nature* **1999**, *397* (6715), 172-5.

35. Morrison, D. K.; Heidecker, G.; Rapp, U. R.; Copeland, T. D., Identification of the major phosphorylation sites of the Raf-1 kinase. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **1993**, *268* (23), 17309-16.

36. Obsil, T.; Ghirlando, R.; Klein, D. C.; Ganguly, S.; Dyda, F., Crystal structure of the 14-3-3zeta:serotonin N-acetyltransferase complex. a role for scaffolding in enzyme regulation. *Cell* **2001**, *105* (2), 257-67.

37. Thorson, J. A.; Yu, L. W.; Hsu, A. L.; Shih, N. Y.; Graves, P. R.; Tanner, J. W.; Allen, P. M.; Piwnica-Worms, H.; Shaw, A. S., 14-3-3 proteins are required for maintenance of Raf-1 phosphorylation and kinase activity. *Molecular and cellular biology* **1998**, *18* (9), 5229-38.

38. Vincenz, C.; Dixit, V. M., 14-3-3 proteins associate with A20 in an isoform-specific manner and function both as chaperone and adapter molecules. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **1996**, *271* (33), 20029-34.

39. Furlanetto, R. W.; Dey, B. R.; Lopaczynski, W.; Nissley, S. P., 14-3-3 proteins interact with the insulin-like growth factor receptor but not the insulin receptor. *The Biochemical journal* **1997**, *327 (Pt 3)*, 765-71.

40. Spence, S. L.; Dey, B. R.; Terry, C.; Albert, P.; Nissley, P.; Furlanetto, R. W., Interaction of 14-3-3 proteins with the insulin-like growth factor I receptor (IGFIR): evidence for a role of 14-3-3 proteins in IGFIR signaling. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **2003**, *312* (4), 1060-6.

41. Lu, B.; Xu, J.; Zhu, Y.; Zhang, H.; Lai, M., Systemic analysis of the differential gene expression profile in a colonic adenoma-normal SSH library. *Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry* **2007**, *378* (1-2), 42-7.

42. Qi, W.; Liu, X.; Qiao, D.; Martinez, J. D., Isoform-specific expression of 14-3-3 proteins in human lung cancer tissues. *International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer* **2005**, *113* (3), 359-63.

43. Fan, T.; Li, R.; Todd, N. W.; Qiu, Q.; Fang, H. B.; Wang, H.; Shen, J.; Zhao, R. Y.; Caraway, N. P.; Katz, R. L.; Stass, S. A.; Jiang, F., Up-regulation of 14-3-3zeta in lung cancer and its implication as prognostic and therapeutic target. *Cancer research* **2007**, *67* (16), 7901-6.

44. Jang, J. S.; Cho, H. Y.; Lee, Y. J.; Ha, W. S.; Kim, H. W., The differential proteome profile of stomach cancer: identification of the biomarker candidates. *Oncology research* **2004**, *14* (10), 491-9.

45. Danes, C. G.; Wyszomierski, S. L.; Lu, J.; Neal, C. L.; Yang, W. T.; Yu, D. H., 14-3-3 zeta down-regulates p53 in mammary epithelial cells and confers luminal filling. *Cancer research* **2008**, *68* (6), 1760-1767.

46. Wulfkuhle, J. D.; Sgroi, D. C.; Krutzsch, H.; McLean, K.; McGarvey, K.; Knowlton, M.; Chen, S.; Shu, H. J.; Sahin, A.; Kurek, R.; Wallwiener, D.; Merino, M. J.; Petricoin, E. F.; Zhao, Y. M.; Steeg, P. S., Proteomics of human breast ductal carcinoma in situ. *Cancer research* **2002**, *62* (22), 6740-6749.

47. Zang, L.; Toy, D. P.; Hancock, W. S.; Sgroi, D. C.; Karger, B. L., Proteomic analysis of ductal carcinoma of the breast using laser capture microdissection, LC-MS, and O-16/O-18 isotopic labeling. *J Proteome Res* **2004**, *3* (3), 604-612.

48. Li, Y.; Zou, L.; Li, Q.; Haibe-Kains, B.; Tian, R.; Li, Y.; Desmedt, C.; Sotiriou, C.; Szallasi, Z.; Iglehart, J. D.; Richardson, A. L.; Wang, Z. C., Amplification of LAPTM4B and YWHAZ contributes to chemotherapy resistance and recurrence of breast cancer. *Nature medicine* **2010**, *16* (2), 214-8.

49. Frasor, J.; Chang, E. C.; Komm, B.; Lin, C. Y.; Vega, V. B.; Liu, E. T.; Miller, L. D.; Smeds, J.; Bergh, J.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S., Gene expression preferentially regulated by tamoxifen in breast cancer cells and correlations with clinical outcome. *Cancer research* **2006**, *66* (14), 7334-40.

50. Lu, J.; Guo, H.; Treekitkarnmongkol, W.; Li, P.; Zhang, J.; Shi, B.; Ling, C.; Zhou, X.; Chen, T.; Chiao, P. J.; Feng, X.; Seewaldt, V. L.; Muller, W. J.; Sahin, A.; Hung, M. C.; Yu, D., 14-3-3zeta Cooperates with ErbB2 to promote ductal carcinoma in situ progression to invasive breast cancer by inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Cancer Cell* **2009**, *16* (3), 195-207.

51. Neal, C. L.; Yao, J.; Yang, W.; Zhou, X.; Nguyen, N. T.; Lu, J.; Danes, C. G.; Guo, H.; Lan, K. H.; Ensor, J.; Hittelman, W.; Hung, M. C.; Yu, D., 14-3-3zeta overexpression defines high risk for breast cancer recurrence and promotes cancer cell survival. *Cancer research* **2009**, *69* (8), 3425-32.

52. Fu, H.; Subramanian, R. R.; Masters, S. C., 14-3-3 proteins: structure, function, and regulation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **2000**, *40*, 617-47.

53. Bajpai, U.; Sharma, R.; Kausar, T.; Dattagupta, S.; Chattopadhayay, T. K.; Ralhan, R., Clinical significance of 14-3-3 zeta in human esophageal cancer. *Int J Biol Markers* **2008**, *23* (4), 231-7.

54. Neal, C. L.; Yao, J.; Yang, W. T.; Zhou, X. Y.; Nguyen, N. T.; Lu, J.; Danes, C. G.; Guo, H.; Lan, K. H.; Ensor, J.; Hittelman, W.; Hung, M. C.; Yu, D. H., 14-3-3 zeta Overexpression Defines High Risk for Breast Cancer Recurrence and Promotes Cancer Cell Survival. *Cancer research* **2009**, *69* (8), 3425-3432.

55. Murata, T.; Takayama, K.; Urano, T.; Fujimura, T.; Ashikari, D.; Obinata, D.; Horie-Inoue, K.; Takahashi, S.; Ouchi, Y.; Homma, Y.; Inoue, S., 14-3-3zeta, a novel androgenresponsive gene, is upregulated in prostate cancer and promotes prostate cancer cell proliferation and survival. *Clin Cancer Res* **2012**, *18* (20), 5617-27.

56. Berardi, S.; Caivano, A.; Ria, R.; Nico, B.; Savino, R.; Terracciano, R.; De Tullio, G.; Ferrucci, A.; De Luisi, A.; Moschetta, M.; Mangialardi, G.; Catacchio, I.; Basile, A.; Guarini, A.; Zito, A.; Ditonno, P.; Musto, P.; Dammacco, F.; Ribatti, D.; Vacca, A., Four proteins governing overangiogenic endothelial cell phenotype in patients with multiple myeloma are plausible therapeutic targets. *Oncogene* **2012**, *31* (18), 2258-69.

57. Hong, H. Y.; Jeon, W. K.; Bae, E. J.; Kim, S. T.; Lee, H. J.; Kim, S. J.; Kim, B. C., 14-3-3 sigma and 14-3-3 zeta plays an opposite role in cell growth inhibition mediated by transforming growth factor-beta 1. *Mol Cells* **2010**, *29* (3), 305-9.

58. Zhang, C.; Liu, L. X.; Dong, Z. R.; Shi, G. M.; Cai, J. B.; Zhang, P. F.; Ke, A. W.; Yu, J. X.; Zhou, J.; Fan, J., Up-regulation of 14-3-3zeta expression in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma and its clinical implications. *Tumour Biol* **2015**, *36* (3), 1781-9.

59. Thiery, J. P.; Acloque, H.; Huang, R. Y.; Nieto, M. A., Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and disease. *Cell* **2009**, *139* (5), 871-90.

60. Hong, J.; Zhou, J.; Fu, J.; He, T.; Qin, J.; Wang, L.; Liao, L.; Xu, J., Phosphorylation of serine 68 of Twist1 by MAPKs stabilizes Twist1 protein and promotes breast cancer cell invasiveness. *Cancer research* **2011**, *71* (11), 3980-90.

61. Hipp, S.; Berg, D.; Ergin, B.; Schuster, T.; Hapfelmeier, A.; Walch, A.; Avril, S.; Schmalfeldt, B.; Hofler, H.; Becker, K. F., Interaction of Snail and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase results in shorter overall survival of ovarian cancer patients. *Virchows Arch* **2010**, *457* (6), 705-13.

62. Dolado, I.; Swat, A.; Ajenjo, N.; De Vita, G.; Cuadrado, A.; Nebreda, A. R., p38alpha MAP kinase as a sensor of reactive oxygen species in tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell* **2007**, *11* (2), 191-205.

63. Parvani, J. G.; Taylor, M. A.; Schiemann, W. P., Noncanonical TGF-beta signaling during mammary tumorigenesis. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **2011**, *16* (2), 127-46.

64. Cheng, J. C.; Klausen, C.; Leung, P. C., Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha mediates epidermal growth factor-induced down-regulation of E-cadherin expression and cell invasion in human ovarian cancer cells. *Cancer letters* **2013**, *329* (2), 197-206.

65. Lagadec, C.; Meignan, S.; Adriaenssens, E.; Foveau, B.; Vanhecke, E.; Romon, R.; Toillon, R. A.; Oxombre, B.; Hondermarck, H.; Le Bourhis, X., TrkA overexpression enhances growth and metastasis of breast cancer cells. *Oncogene* **2009**, *28* (18), 1960-70.

66. Owens, T. W.; Valentijn, A. J.; Upton, J. P.; Keeble, J.; Zhang, L.; Lindsay, J.; Zouq, N. K.; Gilmore, A. P., Apoptosis commitment and activation of mitochondrial Bax during anoikis is regulated by p38MAPK. *Cell Death Differ* **2009**, *16* (11), 1551-62.

67. Zhang, Y.; Rivera Rosado, L. A.; Moon, S. Y.; Zhang, B., Silencing of D4-GDI inhibits growth and invasive behavior in MDA-MB-231 cells by activation of Rac-dependent p38 and JNK signaling. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2009**, *284* (19), 12956-65.

68. Kobayashi, M.; Nishita, M.; Mishima, T.; Ohashi, K.; Mizuno, K., MAPKAPK-2mediated LIM-kinase activation is critical for VEGF-induced actin remodeling and cell migration. *The EMBO journal* **2006**, *25* (4), 713-26.

69. Hsieh, M. J.; Chen, K. S.; Chiou, H. L.; Hsieh, Y. S., Carbonic anhydrase XII promotes invasion and migration ability of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells through the p38 MAPK signaling pathway. *Eur J Cell Biol* **2010**, *89* (8), 598-606.

70. Johansson, N.; Ala-aho, R.; Uitto, V.; Grenman, R.; Fusenig, N. E.; Lopez-Otin, C.; Kahari, V. M., Expression of collagenase-3 (MMP-13) and collagenase-1 (MMP-1) by transformed keratinocytes is dependent on the activity of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Journal of cell science* **2000**, *113 Pt 2*, 227-35.

71. Kumar, P.; Yadav, A.; Patel, S. N.; Islam, M.; Pan, Q.; Merajver, S. D.; Teknos, T. N., Tetrathiomolybdate inhibits head and neck cancer metastasis by decreasing tumor cell motility, invasiveness and by promoting tumor cell anoikis. *Mol Cancer* **2010**, *9*, 206.

72. Park, S. Y.; Jeong, K. J.; Panupinthu, N.; Yu, S.; Lee, J.; Han, J. W.; Kim, J. M.; Lee, J. S.; Kang, J.; Park, C. G.; Mills, G. B.; Lee, H. Y., Lysophosphatidic acid augments human hepatocellular carcinoma cell invasion through LPA1 receptor and MMP-9 expression. *Oncogene* **2011**, *30* (11), 1351-9.

73. Xu, L.; Chen, S.; Bergan, R. C., MAPKAPK2 and HSP27 are downstream effectors of p38 MAP kinase-mediated matrix metalloproteinase type 2 activation and cell invasion in human prostate cancer. *Oncogene* **2006**, *25* (21), 2987-98.

74. Huang, S.; New, L.; Pan, Z.; Han, J.; Nemerow, G. R., Urokinase plasminogen activator/urokinase-specific surface receptor expression and matrix invasion by breast cancer

cells requires constitutive p38alpha mitogen-activated protein kinase activity. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2000**, *275* (16), 12266-72.

75. Blasi, F.; Carmeliet, P., uPAR: a versatile signalling orchestrator. *Nature reviews*. *Molecular cell biology* **2002**, *3* (12), 932-43.

76. Aguirre-Ghiso, J. A., Models, mechanisms and clinical evidence for cancer dormancy. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **2007**, *7* (11), 834-46.

77. del Barco Barrantes, I.; Nebreda, A. R., Roles of p38 MAPKs in invasion and metastasis. *Biochem Soc Trans* **2012**, *40* (1), 79-84.

78. Powell, D. W.; Rane, M. J.; Joughin, B. A.; Kalmukova, R.; Hong, J. H.; Tidor, B.; Dean, W. L.; Pierce, W. M.; Klein, J. B.; Yaffe, M. B.; McLeish, K. R., Proteomic identification of 14-3-3zeta as a mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 substrate: role in dimer formation and ligand binding. *Molecular and cellular biology* **2003**, *23* (15), 5376-87.

79. Xing, H.; Zhang, S.; Weinheimer, C.; Kovacs, A.; Muslin, A. J., 14-3-3 proteins block apoptosis and differentially regulate MAPK cascades. *The EMBO journal* **2000**, *19* (3), 349-58.

80. Yip-Schneider, M. T.; Miao, W.; Lin, A.; Barnard, D. S.; Tzivion, G.; Marshall, M. S., Regulation of the Raf-1 kinase domain by phosphorylation and 14-3-3 association. *The Biochemical journal* **2000**, *351* (Pt 1), 151-9.

81. Zhang, S.; Ren, J.; Zhang, C. E.; Treskov, I.; Wang, Y.; Muslin, A. J., Role of 14-3-3mediated p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibition in cardiac myocyte survival. *Circ Res* **2003**, *93* (11), 1026-8.

82. Huber, E.; Vlasny, D.; Jeckel, S.; Stubenrauch, F.; Iftner, T., Gene profiling of cottontail rabbit papillomavirus-induced carcinomas identifies upregulated genes directly Involved in stroma invasion as shown by small interfering RNA-mediated gene silencing. *J Virol* **2004**, *78* (14), 7478-89.

83. Freed, E.; McCormick, F.; Ruggieri, R., Proteins of the 14-3-3 family associate with Raf and contribute to its activation. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* **1994**, *59*, 187-93.

84. Lee, S. I.; Kim, D. S.; Lee, H. J.; Cha, H. J.; Kim, E. C., The role of thymosin beta 4 on odontogenic differentiation in human dental pulp cells. *PloS one* **2013**, *8* (4), e61960.

85. Cha, H. J.; Jeong, M. J.; Kleinman, H. K., Role of thymosin beta4 in tumor metastasis and angiogenesis. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **2003**, *95* (22), 1674-80.

86. Badache, A.; Goncalves, A., The ErbB2 signaling network as a target for breast cancer therapy. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **2006**, *11* (1), 13-25.

87. Biscardi, J. S.; Ishizawar, R. C.; Silva, C. M.; Parsons, S. J., Tyrosine kinase signalling in breast cancer: epidermal growth factor receptor and c-Src interactions in breast cancer. *Breast cancer research : BCR* **2000**, *2* (3), 203-10.

88. Olayioye, M. A.; Neve, R. M.; Lane, H. A.; Hynes, N. E., The ErbB signaling network: receptor heterodimerization in development and cancer. *The EMBO journal* **2000**, *19* (13), 3159-67.

89. Contessa, J. N.; Abell, A.; Mikkelsen, R. B.; Valerie, K.; Schmidt-Ullrich, R. K., Compensatory ErbB3/c-Src signaling enhances carcinoma cell survival to ionizing radiation. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **2006**, *95* (1), 17-27.

90. Schmidt-Ullrich, R. K.; Valerie, K.; Fogleman, P. B.; Walters, J., Radiation-induced autophosphorylation of epidermal growth factor receptor in human malignant mammary and squamous epithelial cells. *Radiat Res* **1996**, *145* (1), 81-5.

91. Tofilon, P. J.; Camphausen, K., Molecular targets for tumor radiosensitization. *Chem Rev* **2009**, *109* (7), 2974-88.

92. Bowers, G.; Reardon, D.; Hewitt, T.; Dent, P.; Mikkelsen, R. B.; Valerie, K.; Lammering, G.; Amir, C.; Schmidt-Ullrich, R. K., The relative role of ErbB1-4 receptor tyrosine kinases in radiation signal transduction responses of human carcinoma cells. *Oncogene* **2001**, *20* (11), 1388-97.

93. Andarawewa, K. L.; Erickson, A. C.; Chou, W. S.; Costes, S. V.; Gascard, P.; Mott, J. D.; Bissell, M. J.; Barcellos-Hoff, M. H., Ionizing radiation predisposes nonmalignant human mammary epithelial cells to undergo transforming growth factor beta induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *Cancer research* **2007**, *67* (18), 8662-70.

94. Lagadec, C.; Vlashi, E.; Della Donna, L.; Dekmezian, C.; Pajonk, F., Radiation-induced reprogramming of breast cancer cells. *Stem Cells* **2012**, *30* (5), 833-44.

95. Mori, K.; Shibanuma, M.; Nose, K., Invasive potential induced under long-term oxidative stress in mammary epithelial cells. *Cancer research* **2004**, *64* (20), 7464-72.

96. Zhang, D.; Salto-Tellez, M.; Do, E.; Putti, T. C.; Koay, E. S., Evaluation of HER-2/neu oncogene status in breast tumors on tissue microarrays. *Hum Pathol* **2003**, *34* (4), 362-8.

97. De Potter, C. R.; Schelfhout, A. M., The neu-protein and breast cancer. *Virchows Arch* **1995**, *426* (2), 107-15.

98. Slamon, D. J.; Clark, G. M.; Wong, S. G.; Levin, W. J.; Ullrich, A.; McGuire, W. L., Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. *Science* **1987**, *235* (4785), 177-82.

99. Tapia, C.; Savic, S.; Wagner, U.; Schonegg, R.; Novotny, H.; Grilli, B.; Herzog, M.; Barascud, A. D.; Zlobec, I.; Cathomas, G.; Terracciano, L.; Feichter, G.; Bubendorf, L., HER2 gene status in primary breast cancers and matched distant metastases. *Breast cancer research : BCR* **2007**, *9* (3), R31.

100. Kambach, D. M.; Sodi, V. L.; Lelkes, P. I.; Azizkhan-Clifford, J.; Reginato, M. J., ErbB2, FoxM1 and 14-3-3zeta prime breast cancer cells for invasion in response to ionizing radiation. *Oncogene* **2014**, *33* (5), 589-98.

101. DiGiovanna, M. P.; Chu, P.; Davison, T. L.; Howe, C. L.; Carter, D.; Claus, E. B.; Stern, D. F., Active signaling by HER-2/neu in a subpopulation of HER-2/neu-overexpressing ductal carcinoma in situ: clinicopathological correlates. *Cancer research* **2002**, *62* (22), 6667-73.

102. Slamon, D. J.; Godolphin, W.; Jones, L. A.; Holt, J. A.; Wong, S. G.; Keith, D. E.; Levin, W. J.; Stuart, S. G.; Udove, J.; Ullrich, A.; et al., Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. *Science* **1989**, *244* (4905), 707-12.

103. Nofech-Mozes, S.; Spayne, J.; Rakovitch, E.; Hanna, W., Prognostic and predictive molecular markers in DCIS: a review. *Adv Anat Pathol* **2005**, *12* (5), 256-64.

104. Danes, C. G.; Wyszomierski, S. L.; Lu, J.; Neal, C. L.; Yang, W.; Yu, D., 14-3-3 zeta down-regulates p53 in mammary epithelial cells and confers luminal filling. *Cancer research* **2008**, *68* (6), 1760-7.

105. Andersen, J. N.; Mortensen, O. H.; Peters, G. H.; Drake, P. G.; Iversen, L. F.; Olsen, O. H.; Jansen, P. G.; Andersen, H. S.; Tonks, N. K.; Moller, N. P., Structural and evolutionary relationships among protein tyrosine phosphatase domains. *Molecular and cellular biology* **2001**, *21* (21), 7117-36.

106. Tonks, N. K., Protein tyrosine phosphatases: from genes, to function, to disease. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **2006**, *7* (11), 833-46.

107. Bixby, J. L., Ligands and signaling through receptor-type tyrosine phosphatases. *IUBMB life* **2001**, *51* (3), 157-63.

108. Bilwes, A. M.; den Hertog, J.; Hunter, T.; Noel, J. P., Structural basis for inhibition of receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase-alpha by dimerization. *Nature* **1996**, *382* (6591), 555-9.

109. den Hertog, J.; Ostman, A.; Bohmer, F. D., Protein tyrosine phosphatases: regulatory mechanisms. *The FEBS journal* **2008**, *275* (5), 831-47.

110. Jiang, G.; den Hertog, J.; Hunter, T., Receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha homodimerizes on the cell surface. *Molecular and cellular biology* **2000**, *20* (16), 5917-29.

111. Jiang, G.; den Hertog, J.; Su, J.; Noel, J.; Sap, J.; Hunter, T., Dimerization inhibits the activity of receptor-like protein-tyrosine phosphatase-alpha. *Nature* **1999**, *401* (6753), 606-10.

112. Toledano-Katchalski, H.; Tiran, Z.; Sines, T.; Shani, G.; Granot-Attas, S.; den Hertog, J.; Elson, A., Dimerization in vivo and inhibition of the nonreceptor form of protein tyrosine phosphatase epsilon. *Molecular and cellular biology* **2003**, *23* (15), 5460-71.

113. Blanchetot, C.; den Hertog, J., Multiple interactions between receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase (RPTP) alpha and membrane-distal protein-tyrosine phosphatase domains of various RPTPs. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2000**, *275* (17), 12446-52.

114. Blanchetot, C.; Tertoolen, L. G.; Overvoorde, J.; den Hertog, J., Intra- and intermolecular interactions between intracellular domains of receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatases. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2002**, *277* (49), 47263-9.

115. Felberg, J.; Johnson, P., Characterization of recombinant CD45 cytoplasmic domain proteins. Evidence for intramolecular and intermolecular interactions. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **1998**, *273* (28), 17839-45.

116. Streuli, M.; Krueger, N. X.; Thai, T.; Tang, M.; Saito, H., Distinct functional roles of the two intracellular phosphatase like domains of the receptor-linked protein tyrosine phosphatases LCA and LAR. *The EMBO journal* **1990**, *9* (8), 2399-407.

117. Serra-Pages, C.; Medley, Q. G.; Tang, M.; Hart, A.; Streuli, M., Liprins, a family of LAR transmembrane protein-tyrosine phosphatase-interacting proteins. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **1998**, *273* (25), 15611-20.

118. Asperti, C.; Astro, V.; Totaro, A.; Paris, S.; de Curtis, I., Liprin-alpha1 promotes cell spreading on the extracellular matrix by affecting the distribution of activated integrins. *Journal of cell science* **2009**, *122* (Pt 18), 3225-32.

119. Asperti, C.; Pettinato, E.; de Curtis, I., Liprin-alpha1 affects the distribution of lowaffinity beta1 integrins and stabilizes their permanence at the cell surface. *Experimental cell research* **2010**, *316* (6), 915-26.

120. Astigarraga, S.; Hofmeyer, K.; Farajian, R.; Treisman, J. E., Three Drosophila liprins interact to control synapse formation. *J Neurosci* **2010**, *30* (46), 15358-68.

121. Choe, K. M.; Prakash, S.; Bright, A.; Clandinin, T. R., Liprin-alpha is required for photoreceptor target selection in Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **2006**, *103* (31), 11601-6.

122. Dai, Y.; Taru, H.; Deken, S. L.; Grill, B.; Ackley, B.; Nonet, M. L.; Jin, Y., SYD-2 Liprin-alpha organizes presynaptic active zone formation through ELKS. *Nat Neurosci* **2006**, *9* (12), 1479-87.

123. Dunah, A. W.; Hueske, E.; Wyszynski, M.; Hoogenraad, C. C.; Jaworski, J.; Pak, D. T.; Simonetta, A.; Liu, G.; Sheng, M., LAR receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases in the development and maintenance of excitatory synapses. *Nat Neurosci* **2005**, *8* (4), 458-67.

124. Kaufmann, N.; DeProto, J.; Ranjan, R.; Wan, H.; Van Vactor, D., Drosophila liprin-alpha and the receptor phosphatase Dlar control synapse morphogenesis. *Neuron* **2002**, *34* (1), 27-38.

125. Olsen, O.; Moore, K. A.; Fukata, M.; Kazuta, T.; Trinidad, J. C.; Kauer, F. W.; Streuli, M.; Misawa, H.; Burlingame, A. L.; Nicoll, R. A.; Bredt, D. S., Neurotransmitter release regulated by a MALS-liprin-alpha presynaptic complex. *J Cell Biol* **2005**, *170* (7), 1127-34.

126. Shen, J. C.; Unoki, M.; Ythier, D.; Duperray, A.; Varticovski, L.; Kumamoto, K.; Pedeux, R.; Harris, C. C., Inhibitor of growth 4 suppresses cell spreading and cell migration by interacting with a novel binding partner, liprin alpha1. *Cancer research* **2007**, *67* (6), 2552-8.

127. Wyszynski, M.; Kim, E.; Dunah, A. W.; Passafaro, M.; Valtschanoff, J. G.; Serra-Pages, C.; Streuli, M.; Weinberg, R. J.; Sheng, M., Interaction between GRIP and liprin-alpha/SYD2 is required for AMPA receptor targeting. *Neuron* **2002**, *34* (1), 39-52.

128. Zhen, M.; Jin, Y., The liprin protein SYD-2 regulates the differentiation of presynaptic termini in C. elegans. *Nature* **1999**, *401* (6751), 371-5.

129. Schoch, S.; Castillo, P. E.; Jo, T.; Mukherjee, K.; Geppert, M.; Wang, Y.; Schmitz, F.; Malenka, R. C.; Sudhof, T. C., RIM1alpha forms a protein scaffold for regulating neurotransmitter release at the active zone. *Nature* **2002**, *415* (6869), 321-6.

130. Wei, Z.; Zheng, S.; Spangler, S. A.; Yu, C.; Hoogenraad, C. C.; Zhang, M., Liprinmediated large signaling complex organization revealed by the liprin-alpha/CASK and liprinalpha/liprin-beta complex structures. *Mol Cell* **2011**, *43* (4), 586-98.

131. Ko, J.; Kim, S.; Valtschanoff, J. G.; Shin, H.; Lee, J. R.; Sheng, M.; Premont, R. T.; Weinberg, R. J.; Kim, E., Interaction between liprin-alpha and GIT1 is required for AMPA receptor targeting. *J Neurosci* **2003**, *23* (5), 1667-77.

132. Ko, J.; Na, M.; Kim, S.; Lee, J. R.; Kim, E., Interaction of the ERC family of RIMbinding proteins with the liprin-alpha family of multidomain proteins. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2003**, *278* (43), 42377-85.

133. Shin, H.; Wyszynski, M.; Huh, K. H.; Valtschanoff, J. G.; Lee, J. R.; Ko, J.; Streuli, M.; Weinberg, R. J.; Sheng, M.; Kim, E., Association of the kinesin motor KIF1A with the multimodular protein liprin-alpha. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2003**, *278* (13), 11393-401.

134. Lemmon, M. A.; Schlessinger, J., Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. *Cell* **2010**, *141* (7), 1117-34.

135. Lee, H.; Bennett, A. M., Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase-receptor tyrosine kinase substrate screen identifies EphA2 as a target for LAR in cell migration. *Molecular and cellular biology* **2013**, *33* (7), 1430-41.

136. Gale, N. W.; Yancopoulos, G. D., Ephrins and their receptors: a repulsive topic? *Cell and tissue research* **1997**, *290* (2), 227-41.

137. Gale, N. W.; Holland, S. J.; Valenzuela, D. M.; Flenniken, A.; Pan, L.; Ryan, T. E.; Henkemeyer, M.; Strebhardt, K.; Hirai, H.; Wilkinson, D. G.; Pawson, T.; Davis, S.;

Yancopoulos, G. D., Eph receptors and ligands comprise two major specificity subclasses and are reciprocally compartmentalized during embryogenesis. *Neuron* **1996**, *17* (1), 9-19.

138. Mellitzer, G.; Xu, Q.; Wilkinson, D. G., Eph receptors and ephrins restrict cell intermingling and communication. *Nature* **1999**, *400* (6739), 77-81.

139. Miao, H.; Burnett, E.; Kinch, M.; Simon, E.; Wang, B., Activation of EphA2 kinase suppresses integrin function and causes focal-adhesion-kinase dephosphorylation. *Nature cell biology* **2000**, *2* (2), 62-9.

140. Xu, Q.; Mellitzer, G.; Robinson, V.; Wilkinson, D. G., In vivo cell sorting in complementary segmental domains mediated by Eph receptors and ephrins. *Nature* **1999**, *399* (6733), 267-71.

141. Miller, K. E.; DeProto, J.; Kaufmann, N.; Patel, B. N.; Duckworth, A.; Van Vactor, D., Direct observation demonstrates that Liprin-alpha is required for trafficking of synaptic vesicles. *Curr Biol* **2005**, *15* (7), 684-9.

142. Asperti, C.; Astro, V.; Pettinato, E.; Paris, S.; Bachi, A.; de Curtis, I., Biochemical and functional characterization of the interaction between liprin-alpha1 and GIT1: implications for the regulation of cell motility. *PloS one* **2011**, *6* (6), e20757.

143. Vicente-Manzanares, M.; Choi, C. K.; Horwitz, A. R., Integrins in cell migration--the actin connection. *Journal of cell science* **2009**, *122* (Pt 2), 199-206.

144. Astro, V.; Asperti, C.; Cangi, M. G.; Doglioni, C.; de Curtis, I., Liprin-alpha1 regulates breast cancer cell invasion by affecting cell motility, invadopodia and extracellular matrix degradation. *Oncogene* **2011**, *30* (15), 1841-9.

145. Kriajevska, M.; Fischer-Larsen, M.; Moertz, E.; Vorm, O.; Tulchinsky, E.; Grigorian, M.; Ambartsumian, N.; Lukanidin, E., Liprin beta 1, a member of the family of LAR transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase-interacting proteins, is a new target for the metastasis-associated protein S100A4 (Mts1). *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2002**, *277* (7), 5229-35.

146. Norrmen, C.; Vandevelde, W.; Ny, A.; Saharinen, P.; Gentile, M.; Haraldsen, G.; Puolakkainen, P.; Lukanidin, E.; Dewerchin, M.; Alitalo, K.; Petrova, T. V., Liprin (beta)1 is highly expressed in lymphatic vasculature and is important for lymphatic vessel integrity. *Blood* **2010**, *115* (4), 906-9.

147. von Thun, A.; Birtwistle, M.; Kalna, G.; Grindlay, J.; Strachan, D.; Kolch, W.; von Kriegsheim, A.; Norman, J. C., ERK2 drives tumour cell migration in three-dimensional microenvironments by suppressing expression of Rab17 and liprin-beta2. *Journal of cell science* **2012**, *125* (Pt 6), 1465-77.

148. Yang, X. L.; Cao, W. D.; Zhou, J.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, X. A.; Lin, W.; Fei, Z.; Lin, H.; Wang, B., 14-3-3Zeta Positive Expression is Associated With a Poor Prognosis in Patients With Glioblastoma. *Neurosurgery* **2011**, *68* (4), 932-937.

149. Tan, K.; Goldstein, D.; Crowe, P.; Yang, J. L., Uncovering a key to the process of metastasis in human cancers: a review of critical regulators of anoikis. *Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology* **2013**, *139* (11), 1795-805.

150. Weerasekara, V. K.; Panek, D. J.; Broadbent, D. G.; Mortenson, J. B.; Mathis, A. D.; Logan, G. N.; Prince, J. T.; Thomson, D. M.; Thompson, J. W.; Andersen, J. L., Metabolic-Stress-Induced Rearrangement of the 14-3-3 zeta Interactome Promotes Autophagy via a ULK1- and AMPK-Regulated 14-3-3 zeta Interaction with Phosphorylated Atg9. *Molecular and cellular biology* **2014**, *34* (24), 4379-4388.

151. Obenauer, J. C.; Cantley, L. C.; Yaffe, M. B., Scansite 2.0: Proteome-wide prediction of cell signaling interactions using short sequence motifs. *Nucleic Acids Res* **2003**, *31* (13), 3635-41.

152. Yaffe, M. B.; Rittinger, K.; Volinia, S.; Caron, P. R.; Aitken, A.; Leffers, H.; Gamblin, S. J.; Smerdon, S. J.; Cantley, L. C., The structural basis for 14-3-3:phosphopeptide binding specificity. *Cell* **1997**, *91* (7), 961-71.

153. Ottmann, C.; Marco, S.; Jaspert, N.; Marcon, C.; Schauer, N.; Weyand, M.; Vandermeeren, C.; Duby, G.; Boutry, M.; Wittinghofer, A.; Rigaud, J. L.; Oecking, C., Structure of a 14-3-3 coordinated hexamer of the plant plasma membrane H+ -ATPase by combining X-ray crystallography and electron cryomicroscopy. *Mol Cell* **2007**, *25* (3), 427-40.

154. Kostelecky, B.; Saurin, A. T.; Purkiss, A.; Parker, P. J.; McDonald, N. Q., Recognition of an intra-chain tandem 14-3-3 binding site within PKCepsilon. *EMBO Rep* **2009**, *10* (9), 983-9.

155. Li, Z.; Zhao, J.; Du, Y.; Park, H. R.; Sun, S. Y.; Bernal-Mizrachi, L.; Aitken, A.; Khuri, F. R.; Fu, H., Down-regulation of 14-3-3zeta suppresses anchorage-independent growth of lung cancer cells through anoikis activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **2008**, *105* (1), 162-7.

156. Hashimoto, N.; Feener, E. P.; Zhang, W. R.; Goldstein, B. J., Insulin receptor proteintyrosine phosphatases. Leukocyte common antigen-related phosphatase rapidly deactivates the insulin receptor kinase by preferential dephosphorylation of the receptor regulatory domain. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **1992**, *267* (20), 13811-4.